# University of East Anglia

## The contribution of the σ<sup>E</sup>-regulated putative stress response protein STM1250 to the *Salmonella* acid tolerance response.

**Ryan Ellis** 

## 100280587

Thesis for the degree of Master of Research in Biomolecular Science (MScR)

> University of East Anglia School of Biological Sciences

### 2023

©This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that use of any information derived therefrom must be in accordance with current UK Copyright Law. In addition, any quotation or extract must include full attribution.

#### **Access Condition and Agreement**

Each deposit in UEA Digital Repository is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, and duplication or sale of all or part of any of the Data Collections is not permitted, except that material may be duplicated by you for your research use or for educational purposes in electronic or print form. You must obtain permission from the copyright holder, usually the author, for any other use. Exceptions only apply where a deposit may be explicitly provided under a stated licence, such as a Creative Commons licence or Open Government licence.

Electronic or print copies may not be offered, whether for sale or otherwise to anyone, unless explicitly stated under a Creative Commons or Open Government license. Unauthorised reproduction, editing or reformatting for resale purposes is explicitly prohibited (except where approved by the copyright holder themselves) and UEA reserves the right to take immediate 'take down' action on behalf of the copyright and/or rights holder if this Access condition of the UEA Digital Repository is breached. Any material in this database has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the material may be published without proper acknowledgement.

#### Abstract

Salmonella are enteric pathogens which frequently infect both humans and animals, resulting in various clinical manifestations. Fundamental to their pathogenesis is the ability of Salmonella to survive in acidic environments experienced throughout the digestive system and inside macrophages. Survival in acidic conditions is credited to several acid tolerance response (ATR) mechanisms, regulated by multiple transcriptional regulators including  $\sigma^{E}$ , also a major regulator of the envelope stress response.

The  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated small heat shock proteins (sHsps) IbpA, IbpB, AgsA and the putative stress response protein STM1250, have recently been implicated in *Salmonella* survival against hydrogen peroxide-associated oxidative stress and the antimicrobial peptide polymyxin B. This same study reported a link between STM1250 and the *Salmonella* ATR induced by hydrochloric acid. We hypothesised in this study that IbpA, IbpB, AgsA and STM1250 may have unidentified roles in protecting *Salmonella* against commonly encountered stresses, which may have implications for food safety.

In this study we have corroborated previous findings that STM1250 functions in the initial stages of the *Salmonella* ATR in the presence of hydrochloric acid. We also established a novel role of STM1250 during the *Salmonella* ATR in the presence of citric acid. These phenotypic results suggest that STM1250 functions in the *Salmonella* ATR regardless of environmental factors, enabling potential future structural and functional investigations and studies utilising STM1250 as a therapeutic target for vaccine development.

Investigation into STM1250s importance in the *Salmonella* ATR during the storage of apple and orange juice identified a trend in which the STM1250 mutant had reduced survival when incubated in these juices, suggesting STM1250s potential implications for *Salmonella* survival in acidic food products. These initial findings in connection with continued research will facilitate the identification of improved food safety regulations, with more specialised implications for the inactivation of *Salmonella* specific to the type of food product.

Table of Contents	
Access Condition and Agreement	2
List of Tables	6
List of Figures	6
List of abbreviations	7
Chapter 1: Introduction	10
1.1 Salmonella nomenclature	11
1.2 <i>Salmonella</i> pathogenesis	12
1.2.1 Sources of infection	12
1.3 Invasive non-typhoidal Salmonella	15 11
1.4 Salmonolla troatmont	14 14
1.4.1 Antibiotic treatment	14
1.4.2 Vaccines	16
1.5 The Gram-negative envelope	17
1.5.1 Envelope biogenesis	19
1.6 Bacterial stress responses 1.6.2 Sigma factors	21
1.7 Bacterial stress responses and the acid tolerance response	25
1.8 Aims and objectives	25
Chapter 2: Materials and methods	27
2.1 Strains	28
2.2 Media	28
2.3 Culturing and bacterial storage	29
2.4 Growth curves	29
2.5 Percentage survival	29
2.7 Acid tolerance assays	30
2.8 Acid tolerance storage assay	30
2.9 Statistical analysis	31
Chapter 3: Elucidating the contribution of STM1250 in the Salmonella acid	
tolerance response	32
3.1 Introduction	33
3.1.1 The Salmonella acid tolerance response	33
3.1.3 Synthesis and transcriptional regulation of acid shock proteins	35
3.1.3.1 PhoPQ	38
3.1.3.2 RpoS	38
3.1.3.3 Fur	39
3.1.3.4 UMPK/ENVZ 3.1.3.5 RnoF	39 ^/
3.1.4 σ <sup>E</sup> -regulated proteins	
3.1.5 Chapter Aims	43

3.2 Results	44
3.2.1 Growth of mutant strains is not significantly reduced in minimal media	44
3.2.2 HCl and citric acid pH range survival assay	
3.2.3 The survival of the acid adapted quadruple mutant is reduced compared to W during stationary phase growth in HCI acidified NCE media	T 16
3.2.4 STM1250 is solely required for the stationary phase ATR response in S. Typhi	murium
in the presence of HCI	
3.2.5 STM1250 is involved in the stationary phase ATR response in the presence of acid	<b>citric</b> 51
3.3 Discussion	53
3.3.1 STM1250 is important for the Salmonella ATR in the presence of HCI	53
3.3.2 STM1250 is important for the Salmonella ATR in the presence of citric acid	54 56
Chapter 4: Investigating the importance of the acid tolerance response a	nd 
STM1250 IN food safety	
4.1 Introduction	58
4.1.1 Implications of the ATR on Food safety	
4.1.2 Chapter aims	
4.2 Results	62
4.2.1 Growth of mutant strains is not significantly reduced in complex media	
4.2.2 Survival of actu adapted and non-actu adapted $\Delta S m r 250$ mutants in pasteur apple and orange juice	<b>Seu</b>
4.2.2.1 Apple and orange juice storage survival assay at 37 °C	
4.2.2.2 Apple and orange juice storage survival assay at 25 °C	65
4.2.2.3 Apple and orange juice storage survival assay at 4 °C	66
4.3 Discussion	69
4.2.1 Survival of the STM1250 mutant in apple and orange juice	
4.2.2 Summary	71
Chapter 5: General Discussion	73
5.1 Context	74
5.2 The importance of the bacterial stress response	76
5.3 The putative stress response protein STM1250 and the Salmonella ATR	77
5.4 The importance of the Salmonella ATR and STM1250 in food safety	79
5.5 Study limitations	82
5.6 Conclusions	82
Chapter 6: References	84

### List of Tables

Table 1. Bacterial strains used in this study	28
---	----

### List of Figures

Figure 1. Salmonella taxonomy and nomenclature
Figure 2. The cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria18
Figure 3. Salmonella Lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems
Figure 4. Growth of WT and Salmonella mutant strains are not significantly reduced in pH
7.0 LB medium
Figure 5. Survival of WT Salmonella in NCE medium adjusted to a range of pHs with either
HCI or citric acid
Figure 6. Survival of the acid adapted $\triangle STM1250 \triangle ibpA \triangle ibpB \triangle agsA$ mutant was significantly
reduced after 15 minutes during acid shock adjusted with HCI, compared to the WT
Figure 7. Survival of the acid adapted $\Delta STM1250$ mutant but not the $\Delta STM1250 \Delta agsA$
double mutant was significantly reduced after 15 and 30 minutes in its ability to survive acid
shock of pH 3.0 adjusted with HCI, compared to WT50
Figure 8. Survival of the acid adapted $\Delta$ <i>STM1250</i> mutant was significantly reduced after 15
minutes in its ability to survive acid shock of pH 3.0 adjusted with citric acid, compared to
WT
Figure 9. The ionisation states of citric acid56
Figure 10. Growth of WT and Salmonella mutant strains are not significantly reduced in pH
7.0 LB medium
Figure 11. Survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted $\Delta$ STM1250 mutant and WT
Salmonella in apple and orange juice at 37 °C64
Figure 12. Survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted $\Delta STM1250$ mutant and WT
Salmonella in apple and orange juice at 25 °C66
Figure 13. Survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted $\Delta STM1250$ mutant and WT
Salmonella in apple and orange juice at 4 °C68

#### List of abbreviations

AAAcid adaptedASPsAcid shock proteinsATRAcid tolerance responseAMPsAntimicrobial peptidesATPAdenosine triphosphateATPAdenosine triphosphataseBAMβ-barrel-assembly machineryCDCCentre for Disease Control and PreventionCFUColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
ASPsAcid shock proteinsATRAcid tolerance responseAMPsAntimicrobial peptidesATPAdenosine triphosphateATPaseAdenosine triphosphataseBAMβ-barrel-assembly machineryCDCCentre for Disease Control and PreventionCFUColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
ATRAcid tolerance responseAMPsAntimicrobial peptidesATPAdenosine triphosphateATPaseAdenosine triphosphataseBAMβ-barrel-assembly machineryCDCCentre for Disease Control and PreventionCFUColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESRExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
AMPsAntimicrobial peptidesATPAdenosine triphosphateATPaseAdenosine triphosphataseBAMβ-barrel-assembly machineryCDCCentre for Disease Control and PreventionCFUColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneINTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
ATPAdenosine triphosphateATP aseAdenosine triphosphataseBAMβ-barrel-assembly machineryCDCCentre for Disease Control and PreventionCFUColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
ATP aseAdenosine triphosphataseBAMβ-barrel-assembly machineryCDCCentre for Disease Control and PreventionCFUColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
RatioAutomotionInprotoprioticBAM $\beta$ -barrel-assembly machineryCDCCentre for Disease Control and PreventionCFUColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum $\beta$ -lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
Drawp-barrel-assembly machineryCDCCentre for Disease Control and PreventionCFUColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
CFUColony forming unitsCFUColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
CPOColony forming unitsCPSCapsular polysaccharideDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
CPSCapsular polysacchandeDNADeoxyribonucleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
DNADeoxynbondcleic acidESBLExtended-spectrum β-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
ESBLExtended-spectrum p-lactamaseESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
ESRsEnvelope stress responsesFurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSOrange Juice
FurFerric uptake regulatorHACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSOrange Juice
HACCPHazard Analysis and Critical Control PointHIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSOrange Juice
HIVHuman immunodeficiency virusHCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
HCIHydrochloric acidIMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
IMInner membraneiNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
iNTSInvasive non-typhoidal SalmonellaKdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
Kdo3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acidLPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
LPSLipopolysaccharideLBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
LBLuria-BertaniMDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
MDRMulti-drug resistantNAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
NAANon-acid adaptedNCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
NCENon-carbon essentialNTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
NTSNon-typhoidal serovarsOOrange Juice
O Orange Juice
OM Outer membrane
OMP Outer membrane proteins
O/N Overnight
ANOVA One way Analysis of Variance
OD Ontical density
OMDa Outer membrana proteina
DMPS Outer memorale proteins
PAMPS Pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecules
PBS Phosphale-bullered Saline
POTRA Polypeptide-transport-associated
rct Relative centrifugal force
RNA ribonucieic acid
rpm Rotations per minute
SCV Salmonella containing vacuole
SEM Standard error of the mean
SPSS Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
SPSSStatistical Package for the Social SciencesTCSTwo component systems
SPSSStatistical Package for the Social SciencesTCSTwo component systemsTSBTryptic soy broth
SPSSStatistical Package for the Social SciencesTCSTwo component systemsTSBTryptic soy brothUDPUridine diphosphate
SPSSStatistical Package for the Social SciencesTCSTwo component systemsTSBTryptic soy brothUDPUridine diphosphateUVAUltraviolet A
SPSSStatistical Package for the Social SciencesTCSTwo component systemsTSBTryptic soy brothUDPUridine diphosphateUVAUltraviolet AUV-VisUltraviolet/ Visible area
SPSSStatistical Package for the Social SciencesTCSTwo component systemsTSBTryptic soy brothUDPUridine diphosphateUVAUltraviolet AUV-VisUltraviolet/ Visible areaUnd-PUndecaprenyl phosphate
SPSSStatistical Package for the Social SciencesTCSTwo component systemsTSBTryptic soy brothUDPUridine diphosphateUVAUltraviolet AUV-VisUltraviolet/ Visible areaUnd-PUndecaprenyl phosphateuOMPsUnfolded OMPs
SPSSStatistical Package for the Social SciencesTCSTwo component systemsTSBTryptic soy brothUDPUridine diphosphateUVAUltraviolet AUV-VisUltraviolet/ Visible areaUnd-PUndecaprenyl phosphateuOMPsUnfolded OMPsUTRUntranslated region

Vi CPS	Vi capsular polysaccharide
w/v	Weight per volume
WHO	World Health Organisation
WT	Wild type
XDR	Extensively drug-resistant
μG	Microgram
μL	Microlitre

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to send my appreciation to my supervisory team, Dr Gary Rowley and Dr Tom Clarke for their support, guidance and insight throughout the time conducting my MScR. Thank you in particular Gary for being a perfect supervisor and providing support and levelheadedness during times of frustration. I feel as though I am now well prepared for the difficulties of a PhD and am excited to remain in scientific research.

I would like to also extend my gratitude to the members of the Rowley lab in particular Tomas, Anabela and Reem. Who despite my constant questions never failed to help me no matter the problem, you all created a work environment I was proud and enjoyed being a part of. I hope you each succeed in your future endeavours, Tomas in finally completing your PhD and Anabela in finally starting yours.

A big thank you to my family, who despite not having much of an idea about my research would always sit and listen to me ramble on about experiments and *Salmonella*. Thank you especially Mum, Dad and Grandad who have each gone well out of their way to support me in different ways.

I am also grateful for my friends Dom, Cali and Polly who alongside their own studies were always there for me to rely on, whether that was listening and giving me ideas in my research or just being good friends.

Lastly, and most importantly thank you Tabby my girlfriend, for helping me in more ways than you would realise. You were always in my corner, listening to me vent, giving me words of encouragement, great ideas and being my first choice sous-chef.

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Salmonella nomenclature

Salmonella is a member of the Enterobacteriaceae family of Gram-negative bacteria. The genus of Salmonella is divided into two species, Salmonella enterica and Salmonella bongori each of which contain many serovars. S. bongori is rarely associated with human disease and is instead predominately found in the environment and cold-blooded animals, and therefore will not be discussed in depth in this review (Brenner *et al.*, 2000). S. enterica is split into six different subspecies (subsp.) referred to using roman numerals. The subspecies consist of: enterica (I), salamae (II), arizonae (IIIa), diarizonae (IIIb) houtenae (IV), and indica (VI). The most up to date classification system used by the Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) uses names for all serotypes in subspecies I, and antigenic formula for unnamed serotypes discovered post 1966 for subspecies II, IV and VI. The antigenic formula is based on the presence of O and H antigens on the bacterium (Brenner *et al.*, 2000). I, S. enterica subsp. enterica is split into different named serovars and are usually grouped into either those which cause typhoidal or non-typhoidal disease, examples are provided in Figure 1.



**Figure 1.** Salmonella taxonomy and nomenclature. Salmonella belongs to the Enterobacteriaceae family of bacteria, the genus of Salmonella is split into two species *S*. bongori and *S*. enterica which is subdivided into six subspecies. Subspecies I (enterica) can then be grouped based on serovars which cause typhoidal disease or not (typhoidal or Non-typhoidal) with examples provided for both.

#### 1.2 Salmonella pathogenesis

Salmonella serovars are one of the most frequently isolated foodborne pathogens posing a significant threat to worldwide public health, causing global morbidity and mortality (Eng et al., 2015). Salmonella spp. are accountable for approximately 1.3 billion cases of disease each year (Coburn et al., 2007). This approximate likely under-represents the true value of disease annually, this is as a result of inadequate surveillance systems, low sensitivity of diagnostic tools and healthcare inequalities causing populations at the highest risk not to seek medical intervention (Amicizia et al., 2017). Salmonella serovars range in their clinical implications with disease manifestations including, gastroenteritis (also known as salmonellosis), enteric fever (typhoid), bacteraemia, and asymptomatic chronic carrier state. Non-typhoidal serovars (NTS) have a broad host range, with human infection generally resulting in self-limiting gastroenteritis (Balasubramanian et al., 2019). NTS serovars cause a greater proportion of disease in comparison to typhoidal serovars, with an estimated 93 million enteric infections and 155,000 associated deaths occurring annually (Majowicz et al., 2010). In developed countries, Salmonella Enteritidis and Salmonella Typhimurium are the most frequently occurring serovars associated with human illness (Duggan et al., 2012). Salmonella Typhi and Salmonella Paratyphi A are the major causative agents for enteric fever. An investigation into the global burden of disease caused by Salmonella Typhi and Paratyphi reported an estimated 14.3 million cases of the disease and a death rate of 198 per 100,000 in 2017 (Stanaway et al., 2019).

#### 1.2.1 Sources of infection

NTS serovars infect various animals many of which are used as livestock by humans, including cattle and poultry which act as reservoirs for *Salmonella*. NTS serovars can cause zoonotic infection which is the primary cause of enteric and systemic diseases, with infected animal products transmitting the disease to humans (Giannella, 1996; Stevens *et al.*, 2009). Different serovars have been associated with contamination of certain food products, with infection by *S*. Enteritidis linked to the consumption of contaminated eggs and poultry meat. When cases of *S*. Typhimurium are more strongly associated with the consumption of contaminated poultry, pork and beef products (Duggan *et al.*, 2012). *Salmonella* infection has also been directly linked to contaminated water and non-animal products including raw vegetables and fruits, with a growing body of evidence suggesting *Salmonella* can infect various plants utilising them as hosts (Schikora *et al.*, 2012). Typhoidal serovars are host restricted to humans and are unable to colonise animals. Therefore, as humans are the only possible reservoir for

typhoidal serovars the transmission route occurs directly from human to human, with chronic carriers able to shed *Salmonella* contaminating water or food sources (Bhan *et al.*, 2005).

#### 1.2.2 Clinical manifestations

Human infection by NTS serovars results in localised gastroenteritis, also known as salmonellosis which is an inflammatory condition of the gastrointestinal tract. Symptoms usually arise 6 to 72 hours post initial infection and consist of diarrhoea, vomiting, nausea, headaches and abdominal cramps (Eng et al., 2015). Gastroenteritis is typically restricted by the host immune system, self-limiting the disease within 4 to 7 days post infection. However, many complications can arise from this initial infection causing significant morbidity in patients, especially those who are more susceptible such as children, the elderly and immunocompromised patients (Scallen et al., 2011). In cases of NTS infection approximately 5% of patients with gastrointestinal disease develop the more lethal illness, bacteraemia (Acheson and Hohmann, 2001). Bacteraemia refers to the presence of viable bacteria in the blood which can turn into a bloodstream infection, leading to various complications (Smith and Nehring, 2022). Severe complications as a result of bloodstream infection included sepsis, osteomyelitis, lung infections and septic arthritis (Crump et al., 2015). Treatment of bacteraemia resulting in Salmonella infection typically includes antibiotics such as ampicillin or quinolones. Though, due to the emergence of antibiotic resistant strains infections are harder to treat with third-generation antibiotics such as cephalosporins (Acheson and Hohmann, 2001).

Host-restricted *Salmonella* serovars *S*. Typhi and *S*. Paratyphi (A, B, and C) result in enteric fever disease manifestations. Symptoms associated with infection by these serovars first include mild fever, headaches, and fatigue. However, in more progressed infections vomiting and diarrhoea may arise with a high mortality rate associated (Kumar and Kumar, 2017). Serovars responsible for enteric fever can colonise the gall bladder establishing an asymptomatic chronic infection known as chronic carrier state. *Salmonella* is able to survive and evade the host immune system in this niche acting as host-restricted reservoirs for these serovars (Gunn *et al.*, 2014). Enteric fever and chronic carrier state will not be discussed at length due to the NTS serovars being the priority for this investigation.

#### 1.3 Invasive non-typhoidal Salmonella

Of emerging importance are NTS serovars which are resulting in frequent cases of invasive disease in many sub-Saharan African countries (Morpeth *et al.*, 2009). Invasive non-typhoidal *Salmonella* (iNTS) infection is caused by serovars typically responsible for salmonellosis, including *S*. Typhimurium with the strain ST313 being strongly implicated in iNTS cases in sub-Saharan Africa (Kingsley *et al.*, 2009; Feasey *et al.*, 2012; Okoro *et al.*, 2012). The global burden inferred by iNTS is difficult to accurately implicate, this is as a result of the distinct lack of laboratories capable of microbiological diagnostic reporting in regions where iNTS is epidemic (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2019). An estimation into the global burden however suggests an annual 3.4 million cases of disease and 681,316 deaths annually, with roughly 2/3 of all cases occurring in children younger than five (Ao *et al.*, 2015).

The clinical presentation of iNTS infection is nonspecific although distinct from both salmonellosis and typhoid fever, characterisation is instead based on non-specific fever, respiratory symptoms, splenomegaly, hepatomegaly and diarrhoea with microbiological confirmation essential for diagnosis (Kingsley et al., 2009: Feasey et al., 2012). A problematic clinical overlap exists with many symptoms shared with pneumonia and malaria, in many cases iNTS infection is indistinguishable from malaria. Complicating things further patients typically present with focal infection, predominately of the respiratory tract, this is as a result of co-infection with other pathogens. (Feasey et al., 2012; Okoro et al., 2012). Due to the fact iNTS cannot be reliable distinguished and the frequent co-infection with other pathogens, World Health Organisation (WHO) guidelines suggest treatment of all children presenting with severe malaria with broad-spectrum antibacterials in order to treat potential iNTS infections (WHO, 2015). Many risk factors are associated with contraction of iNTS, age is a considerable factor with children below the age of three and older patients being particularly at risk. Comorbidities such as malnutrition, malaria, anaemia and HIV are thought to also be risk factors in both children and adults (Morpeth et al., 2009). Due to the niche immunological defects established in HIV patients provide, frequent bacterial colonisation by iNTS occurs. This is thought to be more specifically due to dysregulated cytokine production the impaired killing of bacteria in the serum and dysregulated epithelial barrier maintenance, enabling Salmonella to persist and enter the bloodstream more readily (Feasy et al., 2012).

#### 1.4 Salmonella treatment

Salmonella poses a significant risk to global public safety, the efficient control of disease resulting from Salmonella infection through both treatment and prevention is therefore highly

important. Timely diagnosis of disease resulting from *Salmonella* infection as well as public surveillance is paramount, with precise and efficient diagnosis avoiding the need for antibiotic treatment (Vollaard *et al.*, 2005).

#### 1.4.1 Antibiotic treatment

For the most part healthy individuals infected with NTS Salmonella serovars rarely require clinical intervention as gastroenteric symptoms are typically self-limiting. However, for children the elderly and immunocompromised individuals, treatment with antibiotics may be required. Infection with typhoidal serovars is more serious and therefore it is more common for patients to be treated with antibiotics (Sánchez-Vargas et al., 2011). The first antibiotic identified for treatment of typhoid and paratyphoid fever in 1948 was chloramphenicol, revolutionising the prognosis of individuals with the disease. As the trend with many widely used antibiotics, resistant strains of S. Typhi soon emerged. Some of which boasted multi-drug resistance to many other common first line antibiotics such as ampicillin, amoxicillin, and trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole. The first line antibiotics of choice therefore progressed to fluoroquinolones, ofloxacin and ciprofloxacin drugs in the 1990s (Levine and Simon, 2018). The current recommended antibiotics include chloramphenicol, ampicillin and cotrimoxazole, fluoroquinolones, azithromycin and third-generation cephalosporines such as ceftriaxone and cefixime (Browne et al., 2020). Global resistance towards many antibiotics is dramatically increasing with resistance being reported to many of the commonly used antibiotics. For example, an outbreak of an extensively drug-resistant (XDR) S. Typhi has been documented in Pakistan, conferring resistance to three first-line antibiotics chloramphenicol, ampicillin, and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in addition to fluoroquinolones and third-generation cephalosporins (ceftriaxone/cefixime). Cephalosporin resistance is suggested to be mediated by a harboured  $bla_{CTX-M-15}$  extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamase (ESBL) gene. Fortunately, these isolates still remain treatable with azithromycin and parenteral meropenem (Klemm et al., 2018). The frequency and association with more severe disease outcome of antibiotic resistant NTS infections is becoming a reason of concern. Multiple NTS serovars have been reported as having acquired resistance to many commonly prescribed antibiotics including ampicillin, chloramphenicol, streptomycin, sulfonamides and tetracycline (Mukherjee et al., 2019). The increasing prevalence of multi-drug resistant (MDR) and XDR strains of Salmonella pose a significant threat to public health, highlighting the requirement of new treatment methods and research into therapeutic targets.

#### 1.4.2 Vaccines

Due to the increasing threat to public safety posed by *Salmonella* and the emerging prevalence of MDR and XDR strains, an increase in demand for preventative methods has arisen. The most adept method of preventing serious disease caused by pathogenic bacteria is vaccination. The first *Salmonella* vaccine targeting *S*. Typhi was a parenteral inactivated whole cell vaccine, which was introduced to England and Germany in 1896. Conceptually the vaccine was based on heat inactivation of *S*. Typhi using phenol as a preservative, acetone was then determined as an improved inactivation agent avoiding the destruction of heat-labile antigens which improved the overall efficacy of the vaccine (Guzman *et al.*, 2006). Although the efficacy of these vaccines was adequate global use was halted due to issues with reactogenicity, causing local inflammation, pain, systemic fever, malaise and disease like symptoms (Marathe *et al.*, 2012).

Currently, two different types of vaccine are available for S. Typhi and therefore typhoid fever these include a subunit vaccine known as Vi capsular polysaccharide (Vi CPS) and a live attenuated vaccine deemed Ty21a (Marathe *et al.*, 2012). The Vi CPS vaccine was developed from the wild type (WT) *S*. Typhi Ty2 strain, utilising non-denatured purified Vi polysaccharide. Capsular polysaccharides (CPS) are a major cell-surface component of many bacteria including *Salmonella*, contributing to virulence and proving barrier protection. There are two types of CPS in *Salmonella*, the Vi capsule found in *S*. Typhi and the O-antigen of NTS serovars. The Vi capsule functions as a virulence factor by enabling immune evasion, this is by interfering with complement deposition reducing bacterial killing as a result of neutrophil chemotaxis. The Vi CPS vaccine predominately creates an antibody response towards the Vi capsule, therefore creating an immunity towards *S*. Typhi specifically (Perera *et al.*, 2021). Significantly, the vaccine is not licensed for children under the age of two, this is due to the Vi capsule being a T-independent antigen and therefore unlikely to be immunogenic in infants (MacLennon *et al.*, 2014).

The Ty21a live attenuated vaccine is sold under the brand name Vivotif®, it is administered orally in capsular form on alternating days (1,3,5) for a total of either 3 or 4 days (Jackson *et al.*, 2015). The vaccine was developed through non-specific chemical mutagenesis of *S*. Typhi Ty2 strain, producing a Ty21a mutant lacking the *galE* gene which encodes uridine diphosphate (UDP)-galactose-4-epimerase. This consequently means *S*. Typhi can no longer convert UDP-glucose to UDP-galactose and vice versa, imported exogenous galactose is then able to accumulate intracellularly resulting in lysis and cell death rendering the Ty21a strain avirulent. The additional implication of the *galE* mutation is that when galactose is supplied

exogenously, immunogenically important lipopolysaccharides are synthesised and form on the cell surface eliciting an immune response (Germanier and Fiirer, 1975). Emerging evidence is also suggesting possible cross-protective humoral immune responses of the Ty21a vaccine to *S*. Paratyphi A and B. However, further investigation is needed to assess the efficacy of these responses (Wahid *et al.*, 2012).

Although effective in providing protective immunity against typhoid fever the aforementioned vaccines still have major issues associated with them. Crucially, both types of vaccines are not licenced for young children, this poses an issue as young children are one of the most susceptible demographics for typhoid fever. Another consideration is that vaccine boosters are recommended every 2-3 years, making both vaccines a non-suitable method for continuous prevention. This predominantly impacts developing countries which might not have the infrastructure or funds available to provide boosters (Khan et al., 2017). Finally, both vaccines are not thermostable over long periods of time and require a cold chain (continuous cold storage) to prolong stability and effectiveness, this again is difficult in developing countries where access to cold storage might not be readily available (Perera et al., 2021). A separate issue is also evident with the current Vi CPS and Ty21a vaccines, as they only provide immunological protection against S. Typhi and consequential typhoid fever. No confirmed protection is afforded towards other globally important Salmonella serovars including S. Paratyphi, NTS and iNTS (MacLennon et al., 2014). The failure of any new vaccines for typhoid fever and iNTS disease is as a result of a lack of commercial interest, due to the diseases predominately impacting low-income countries which don't have the funds to invest in vaccine development. The emergence of conjugate vaccines is however showing promise in resolving some of the issues faced by current vaccines such as the effective treatment of children. However, to date licensing of these vaccines for use is only approved in India (Sahastrabuddhe and Saluja et al., 2019).

#### 1.5 The Gram-negative envelope

Bacterial cell envelopes are complex, multilayered, highly functional structures that provide protection to bacteria from a variety of hostile environments and stresses. Dissimilar to cells of other high organisms, bacterial cells come into direct contact with a vast array of unpredictable, interchanging and often potentially lethal environments. Faced with constant environmental pressure bacteria evolved an elaborate and synergistic cell envelope that not only defends against stressful conditions, but also enables the selective interchange of nutrients and chemicals with the extracellular space. The Gram-negative cell envelope is comprised of three principal layers; the outer membrane (OM), the aqueous periplasmic space

containing a layer of peptidoglycan, and the inner membrane (IM) (Figure 2) (Silhavy *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 2. The cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria. Key structures of the Gramnegative envelope are depicted, the three predominant layers consist of the outer membrane (OM), the peptidoglycan layer emersed in the periplasm, and the inner membrane (IM). The outer leaflet of the OM consists of lipopolysaccharides (LPS), within the OM contains various proteins including transmembrane porins,  $\beta$ -barrel-assembly machinery (BAM) complexes and lipoproteins known as Lpp. The IM contains various membrane bound proteins.

The OM is exclusive to Gram-negative bacteria, similar to other typical biological membranes the OM is lipid bilayered. However, in comparison only the inner leaflet of the membrane is comprised of phospholipids, when the outer leaflet is formed of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Figure 2) a highly negatively charged molecule which extends into the bacterial environment (Rollauer *et al.*, 2015). This atypical membrane contains various lipoproteins and outer membrane proteins (OMPs) crucial for the correct functioning of the membrane. Lipoproteins contain lipid moieties which typically result in them being embedded in the inner leaflet of the OM, further translocation can occur onto the cell surface, or they can be assembled into OM protein (OMP) complexes (Konovalova and Silhavy, 2015). Functions of the majority of lipoproteins still remain unresolved, although they are predicted to play important roles in the periplasm (Miyadai *et al.*, 2004). The majority of OMPs functioning in the OM as transmembrane proteins are classified as  $\beta$ -barrel proteins. These proteins are exposed to the extracellular environment and therefore have a plethora of roles ranging from molecular transport, signalling, adhesion used in virulence, and acting as degradative enzymes (Rollauer *et al.*, 2015).

The Peptidoglycan layer is situated directly below the OM, in fact it is anchored onto the OM via lipoproteins called Lpp, murein lipoprotein, or Braun's lipoprotein (Braun, 1975). Peptidoglycan itself functions by providing cell integrity, withstanding turgor pressure. Additionally, it contributes to cell shape and acts as a scaffold for other important cell envelope proteins and teichoic acids (Silhavy *et al.*, 2010). Peptidoglycan is specifically made up of many repeating units of the disaccharide N-acetyl glucosamine-N-actyl muramic acid, which are cross-linked by pentapeptide side chains (Vollmer *et al.*, 2008). The IM is characterised as a phospholipid bilayer which is the more typical cellular membrane, located within consists of a myriad of proteins. The functioning of these IM proteins is crucial for the survival of the bacterial cell due to their range of implications including energy production, lipid biosynthesis, protein secretion, and transport (Silhavy *et al.*, 2010).

#### 1.5.1 Envelope biogenesis

The constituents of the Gram-negative cell envelope including proteins, LPS and phospholipids are synthesised remotely in either the cytoplasm or the inner surface of the IM. Components therefore must be transported across the IM; different processes are utilised depending on the final destination. Periplasmic components must be released from the IM, peptidoglycan components must be released and polymerised and OM components must be transported across the periplasm and assembled (Silhavy *et al.*, 2010).

Proteins are synthesised in the cytoplasm via ribosomes, the majority of proteins are transported across the IM in their unfolded state through the general secretion pathway (Sec pathway). This pathway is comprised of SecYEG IM channel and the SecA motor adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) which provides the energy for the translocation by hydrolysing adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (Tsirigotaki *et al.*, 2017). Once translocated across the IM, periplasmic chaperones such as SurA, Skp and DegP protect unfolded OMPs (uOMPs) and aid in their further transport. uOMPs are transported by these chaperones to the inner surface of the OM where they are recognised by the  $\beta$ -barrel-assembly machinery (BAM) complex, which functions by folding and inserting these proteins into the OM. The BAM complex is comprised of an integral OMP called BamA and four lipoproteins (BamB,C,D, and E), BamA contains a set of five Polypeptide-transport-associated (POTRA) domains at the N terminus and a  $\beta$ -barrel domain embedded in the OM at the C terminus. Although the functional roles of the BAM components and the overall mechanism of OMP substrate membrane insertion

remains unresolved based on structural analysis it is thought that OMPs integrate into the OM via a lateral opening of the BamA  $\beta$ -barrel (Han *et al.*, 2016). The genes which encode the BAM complex components are each regulated by the extracytoplasmic sigma factor  $\sigma^{E}$  (Skovierova *et al.*, 2006).

LPS is comprised of three major regions; Lipid A, the oligosaccharide core and the O-antigen. Lipid A, is a highly acylated  $\beta$ -1'-6-linked glucosamine disaccharide that is localised to the outer leaflet forming the hydrophobic region of the molecule. The oligosaccharide is nonrepeating in structure and is linked to the glucosamines of lipid A, contained within this structure are typically 3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acid (Kdo) residues, heptoses, and hexoses. Attached to the core oligosaccharide is the O-antigen which is an extended polysaccharide comprised of repeating oligosaccharides made from two to eight sugars (Bertani et al., 2018). The overall composition of LPS is not fully conserved across Gramnegative bacterial species. Although the structure of lipid A is highly conserved at the species level, the core oligosaccharides and even more so the O-antigen structurally vary at the species level of bacteria and can even vary between strains of the same species. Interestingly, the O-antigen is completely omitted within some Gram-negative bacteria (Bertani et al., 2018). Synthesis of lipid A follows the Raetz pathway occurring at the inner leaflet of the IM (Raetz et al., 2009). Biosynthesis of the oligosaccharide core is intertwined with that of lipid A, with the formation of the lipid A complex bound to two Kdo groups which is then translocated across the IM to the periplasm by the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter (MsbA) (Whitfield and Trent, 2014). Distinct from the lipid-core biogenesis the O-antigen is synthesised with the sequential addition of monosaccharides onto the lipid carrier molecule undecaprenyl phosphate (Und-P), this newly created polysaccharide is then transferred to the outer leaflet of the IM and ligated to the lipid A-core acceptor by the O-antigen ligase WaaL (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002).

As previously mentioned LPS is localised to the outer leaflet, through extensive research the functioning and biogenesis of LPS in the OM has been unravelled. It is now understood that LPS molecules interact with each other on the cell surface through divalent cations, forming a permeable barrier. This barrier selectively prevents entry to small hydrophobic compounds including bile salts, detergents and antibiotics overall enabling survival in harsh conditions (Zhang *et al.*, 2013). Due to the formation of an effective permeability barrier LPS is considered a key virulence factor of Gram-negative pathogenic bacteria, due to its importance in virulence LPS is recognised by the host immune system and is hence classified as pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecules (PAMPs). Genes involved in the biosynthesis and assembly of LPS have therefore emerged as good therapeutic targets (Srinivas *et al.*, 2010). Damage to

the LPS and accumulation of LPS components in the periplasm induces the  $\sigma^{E}$  envelope stress response, as  $\sigma^{E}$  takes part in the regulation of genes involved in LPS biogenesis and transport (Rhodius *et al.*, 2006).

#### 1.6 Bacterial stress responses

Bacteria inevitably encounter a variety of environments during their lifecycle, many of which confer harsh stressful conditions. Some of which include extreme temperature and pH changes, antimicrobials, osmotic pressure and nutrient limitation. Due to the damage these stresses can impose on bacteria such as the damage of crucial cellular proteins and membranes, key adaptive mechanisms known as bacterial stress responses have been developed providing resilient protection. Bacterial stress responses respond to stress leading to the precise induction of regulatory networks, which consequently control the expression of genes involved in the response to disrupted cellular homeostasis (Dawan and Ahn, 2022). These networks ultimately lead to the regulation of transcription regulons through either the activation of an alternative sigma factor subunit of RNA polymerase or DNA-binding twocomponent response regulators (Marles-Wright and Lewis, 2007). These stress responses are therefore characterised as being either sigma ( $\sigma$ ) factors or two component systems (TCS). Bacterial stress responses are not just crucial for survival, helping withstand harsh stressful conditions in the environment but are also fundamental in pathogenesis. Certain hostassociated stresses such as pH, temperature and reactive oxygen species can additionally induce the expression of virulence genes via stress response mechanisms. An overall understanding of stress responses and their precise regulatory mechanisms is therefore crucial in advancing our understanding of bacterial pathogenesis (Fang et al., 2016).

#### 1.6.1 Two component systems

TCSs are a fundamental mechanism in all bacteria including pathogenic bacteria such as *Salmonella*, while some TCSs are crucial for cell growth and fitness others have stronger implications to virulence and drug resistance responding to stress-inducing environmental conditions (Hirakawa *et al.*, 2020). TCSs are comprised of at least two proteins, typically a sensor kinase which functions to sense external stimuli and a response regulator which can primarily bind to DNA altering transcription but is also involved in other regulatory interactions (Gao *et al.*, 2007). More specifically following external stimulus such as changes in but not limited to nutrient levels, pH, osmotic pressure a conserved histidine residue on the sensor kinase becomes phosphorylated via auto-phosphorylation (Gao and Stock, 2009). This phosphate group can then be transferred to a conserved aspartate residue on the response

regulator inducing a conformational change, enabling the binding to a target DNA region therefore resulting in the regulation of gene expression through modulation of promoter sequences (Kenny and Anand, 2020). Although many TCSs exist, of importance in this study are the PhoPQ and OmpR/EnvZ TCSs of *Salmonella* and will therefore be discussed below and further in chapter 3.

The PhoPQ TCS is comprised of the sensor kinase PhoQ and its cognate response regulator PhoP. PhoQ typically forms a dimer and is found in the bacterial IM, it is comprised of two transmembrane regions which span the IM providing periplasmic and cytoplasmic sensor domains. Induction of PhoQ results in its autophosphorylation on a histidine residue on the cytoplasmic domain, this phosphate is then transferred to an aspartate on PhoP enabling the regulation of *phoP*-activated (pag) and -repressed (prg) genes (Monsieurs *et al.*, 2005). PhoPQ has been determined to respond to various environmental stresses, including low concentrations of divalent magnesium (Mg<sup>2+</sup>) and divalent calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) as well as acidic pH and cationic antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) (Lu *et al.*, 2020). The PhoPQ two-component system controls a range of different genes implicated in numerous cellular activities, this includes genes implicated in survival and resistance towards AMPs and pH (Groisman, 2001). The implications of the PhoPQ system towards acid stress will be discussed further in chapter 3.

The EnvZ/OmpR TCS similarly to PhoPQ is comprised of a sensor kinase EnvZ and its cognate response regulator OmpR. EnvZ is located at the IM and consists of two transmembrane domains that flank a periplasmic domain and a cytoplasmic domain, which contains the histidine residue that becomes phosphorylated and a OmpR binding region. The EnvZ/OmpR TCS is best characterised for its involvement in responding to osmotic stress, with EnvZ capable of responding to low osmolarity and activating OmpR which regulates expression of many genes including OM porins including OmpF and OmpC. It is thought that this regulation of porins has implications to virulence in *E. coli* and *Salmonella* enabling the recognition of host environments (high osmolarity) and dilute environmental conditions (low osmolarity) (Kenny and Anand, 2020). Of relevance to this study is that OmpR has also been described as an acid shock protein (ASP) involved in the ATR of *Salmonella*, this will be discussed more in chapter 3 (Bang *et al.*, 2003).

#### 1.6.2 Sigma factors

Much of the research into bacterial stress responses including sigma factors have been conducted in the Gram-negative bacteria E. coli. Most of the processes determined in this model organism are highly conserved with Salmonella due to it also being a Gram-negative bacterium, although crucial differences are evident which will be highlighted later. As previously mentioned, bacterial sigma factors activate RNA polymerase via binding to the core creating a holoenzyme which initiates transcription (Bono et al., 2017). The classification of sigma factors primarily falls into two distinct groups either the  $\sigma^{70}$  family, or the structurally distinct  $\sigma^{54}$  family. Both  $\sigma^{70}$  (RpoD) and  $\sigma^{54}$  (RpoN) represent specific sigma factors, the primary sigma factor  $\sigma^{70}$  is responsible for the majority of transcription during growth, when  $\sigma^{54}$  is concerned with directing transcription is response to environmental stress. (Paget, 2015). Categorisation of sigma factors is based on their homology towards either  $\sigma^{70}$  or  $\sigma^{54}$ . Interestingly the  $\sigma^{54}$  family only contains one member being itself,  $\sigma^{54}$  (RpoN) (Bono *et al.*, 2017). In S. Typhimurium six sigma factors are present controlling gene expression this includes: the primary sigma factor  $\sigma^{70}$  (*rpoD*), and the alternative sigma factors,  $\sigma^{24}$  (*rpoE*),  $\sigma^{32}$  (*rpoH*),  $\sigma^{38}$  (*rpoS*),  $\sigma^{28}$  (*fliA*), and  $\sigma^{54}$  (*rpoN*) (Gruber and Gross, 2003). Of importance in this study are the alternative sigma factors contained within the  $\sigma^{70}$  family specifically  $\sigma^{E}$  and  $\sigma^{S}$ , beyond the scope of this investigation are  $\sigma^{H}$  and FliA therefore they will not be discussed.

The alternative sigma factor,  $\sigma^{s}$  encoded by *rpoS* is regarded as the general stress response. During optimal growth conditions levels of  $\sigma^{s}$  are relatively low, however during the stationary phase of bacterial growth expression is greatly increased (Battesti et al., 2011). In addition to its functioning in stationary phase cells  $\sigma^{s}$  also functions in response to environmental stress, with expression induced following but not limited to extreme pH, temperature, osmolarity, and DNA damage (Battesti *et al.*, 2011). The  $\sigma^{s}$  regulon has been studied in depth, a large percentage of at least 10% of the total bacterial genome in *E. coli* is positively controlled by  $\sigma^{s}$  (Weber *et al.*, 2005). Although regulon members are well conserved between bacterial species such as *Salmonella*, some members are however unique to the species. Therefore, responses towards certain stresses are different, highlighting the importance of species specific research (Meléndez et al., 2022). Due to its expansive regulon transcription, translation and post-translational control of  $\sigma^{s}$  is tightly regulated.  $\sigma^{s}$  synthesis and downregulation of its degradation occurs during unfavourable conditions for the cell as mentioned above. Many regulatory cascades are involved in the induction of the  $\sigma^{s}$  system. This includes a response which utilises the small molecule guanosine pentaphosphate (ppGpp) which promotes the increased transcription, translation and inhibition of degradation of  $\sigma^s$  following nutrient starvation conditions through maintenance of mRNA stability (Traxler *et al.*, 2008). Negative regulation of  $\sigma^{s}$  is also evident during specific stress responses, with cyclic AMP (cAMP) and catabolite response protein (CRP) acting antagonistically towards  $\sigma^{s}$  (Battesti *et al.*, 2011).

The extracytoplasmic sigma factor,  $\sigma^{E}$  encoded by *rpoE* is fundamental for the maintenance of cell envelope homeostasis and is hence considered an envelope stress response (ESR) (Hews et al., 2019). Misfolded OMPs in the OM or periplasm and unlocalised LPS are signs of unbalanced envelope homeostasis, the  $\sigma^{E}$  ESR can sense these unbalances and initiate transcription of specific genes to resolve the issue. Damage to the cell envelope caused by various environmental stresses can initiate the induction of the  $\sigma^{E}$  pathway including oxidative stress, heat and cold shock, carbon starvation (Rowley et al., 2006), acid stress (Muller et al., 2009) ultraviolet A (UVA) radiation, P22 phage, and hypo-osmotic shock (Amar et al., 2018). Under typical physiological conditions  $\sigma^{E}$  is sequestered to the transmembrane protein RseA, inhibiting its ability to interact with RNA polymerase to induce transcription, RseB has also been determined to negatively regulate  $\sigma^{E}$  by increasing the affinity of RseA towards  $\sigma^{E}$  (De Las Peñas *et al.*, 1997; Collinet *et al.*, 2000). Induction of  $\sigma^{E}$  occurs through regulated intramembrane proteolysis. More specially the site-1 protease DegS can interact with uOMPs in the periplasm causing a conformation change which exposures a protease domain for RseA, a cleavage event occurs removing RseB bound to RseA (Li et al., 2009). A site-2 protease RseP is then recruited to cleave the cytoplasmic domain of RseA, producing unsequestered  $\sigma^{E}$  (Alba *et al.*, 2002).

 $σ^{E}$ -regulated genes are fundamental to virulence in many bacterial pathogens and as previously indicated are also crucial in OM biogenesis, regulating genes involved in LPS biogenesis and transport and the five genes which encode the BAM complex components (Rhodius *et al.*, 2006; Skovierova *et al.*, 2006). The  $σ^{E}$  regulon has been well established in different bacterial species including *Salmonella*, although the regulon has been fully characterised there are still many genes which have not been investigated and therefore have unknown function some of which are unique to *Salmonella* (Skovierova *et al.*, 2006). Of primary interest to this study is the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated putative stress response protein STM1250, and the small heat shock proteins (sHsps) IbpA, IbpB and AgsA. In a study by Skovierova *et al.* (2006) assessing the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon, IbpA, IbpB, AgsA and STM1250 were all identified as having unknown function in *Salmonella*, both STM1250 and AgsA were identified as being specific to *Salmonella*. Significantly, IbpA, IbpB, AgsA had all been somewhat characterised either in *E. coli* or Salmonella, STM1250 however was still regarded as a hypothetical protein. Due to their location in the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon IbpA, IbpB, AgsA and STM1250 have been hypothesised to have a role in *Salmonella*  $\sigma^{E}$  stress responses, this was shown to be true by Hews (2020) who described novel roles for each of the proteins including STM1250s apparent role in ATR. STM1250 and the sHsps will be discussed at length in chapter 3.

#### 1.7 Bacterial stress responses and the acid tolerance response

Bacterial stress responses discussed in this chapter, including sigma factors and TCSs all respond to a variety of environmental conditions. Significantly, in common is their involvement against acid stress in *Salmonella* by regulating the expression of ASPs which elicit resistance towards extreme pH levels. The expression of ASPs is a fundamental stage of a stress response deemed the ATR, which is a crucial adaptive mechanism utilised by many bacteria including *Salmonella* where it was first identified and characterised (Foster, 1999). It is defined as the mechanism whereby exposure to mildly acidic conditions (pH 4-6), primes the cell for survival in highly acidic usually toxic acidic levels (pH 3-4) (Foster, 1999). The ATR as well as the precise regulation of ASPs via bacterial stress responses will be more deeply discussed in chapter 3. Of importance to this study are also the implications of this adaptive response in food safety, as the ATR provides resistance to pathogenic bacteria including *Salmonella*. This enables survival in food products during typical food processing and thus posing a public health risk. The ATR and its implications on food safety will be discussed at length in chapter 4.

#### 1.8 Aims and objectives

The characterisation of the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon in *Salmonella* by Skovierova *et al.* (2006) identified various protein coding genes with no recorded function. Based on  $\sigma^{E}$  and its regulon of genes having importance for *Salmonella* resistance to oxidative stress and being highly expressed during acid stress, a previous unpublished thesis conducted by Hews (2020) in the Rowley laboratory set about the characterisation of some of these  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated genes with unknown function namely IbpA, IbpB, AgsA and STM1250. Significantly, findings by Hews (2020) implicated one of these uncharacterised genes STM1250 in the ATR of *Salmonella*. Work conducted in this thesis therefore aimed to extend these original findings. Firstly, by confirming the reproducibility of findings that STM1250 is important for *Salmonella* ATR, then by enhancing our phenotypic understanding of STM1250 in the ATR. Further, the project aims to assess the contributions of STM1250 in the long-term survival of *Salmonella* in apple and orange juice, determining whether this has implications for food safety.

Project aims where achieved through:

- Assessing the survival of the △STM1250 mutant in acid shock conditions. Determining whether previous findings by Hews can be replicated, confirming a specific role of STM1250 in the Salmonella acid tolerance response.
- Extending our phenotypic understanding of STM1250 by assessing the △STM1250 mutant in acid shock conditions acidified with citric acid.
- Investigating the survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted △*STM1250* mutants in the long-term storage in apple and orange juice over a range of temperatures.

## **Chapter 2: Materials and methods**

#### 2.1 Strains

#### Table 1. Bacterial strains used in this study.

Strain	Description	References		
Salmonella strains				
SL1344	Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica	(Hoiseth and		
	serovar Typhimurium 4/74, <i>hisG, rpsL</i>	Stocker, 1981)		
Salmonella mutant strains				
∆STM1250	SL1344 ∆ <i>STM1250</i> :: Kan	(Hews <i>et al</i> .,		
		2019)		
∆STM1250∆agsA	SL1344 ∆ <i>STM1250∆ag</i> sA :: Cm	(Hews <i>et al</i> .,		
		2019)		
$\Delta$ STM1250 $\Delta$ ibpA $\Delta$ ibpB $\Delta$ agsA	SL1344 ∆ <i>STM1250∆ag</i> sA :: Cm	(Hews et al.,		
	∆ <i>ibpA∆ibpB</i> :: Kan	2019)		

#### 2.2 Media

Luria-Bertani (LB) media was prepared by dissolving 10 g NaCl, 10 g tryptone and 5 g yeast extract in 1 L of distilled water (dH<sub>2</sub>O) and sterilised via autoclaving. LB agar plates were prepared the same with the addition of 1.5% (w/v) agar to LB media.

NCE minimal media was prepared by first dissolving 3.94 g KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 6.46 g K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> and 3.5 g NaNH<sub>4</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> in 1 L distilled water (dH<sub>2</sub>O) and autoclave to sterilise. After sterilisation 1 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.4% (w/v) glucose and 400  $\mu$ g/mL when required.

Phosphate-buffered Saline (PBS) was prepared by dissolving 9.93 g of powdered PBS in 1 L of distilled water ( $dH_2O$ ) and autoclaved to sterilise.

#### 2.3 Culturing and bacterial storage

For short term storage of bacteria, cultures were maintained on LB agar at 4 °C for up to 2 weeks. Stationary phase cultures were prepared using single colonies from short term storage plates, colonies were used to inoculate 10 mL of either non-carbon essential (NCE) media or LB which were then grown overnight at 37 °C and 180 rpm.

For long term storage, bacterial strains were stored at -80 °C in Microbank<sup>™</sup> beads (ProLab Diagnostics) according to manufacturer's instructions.

#### 2.4 Growth curves

Growth curves were produced according to optical density (OD) measurements conducted on a Spectronic Helios Gamma ultraviolet- visible area (UV-Vis) Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). An O/N culture of bacteria was used to inoculate 50 mL of either NCE or LB media were stated at a final OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1. Flasks containing inoculated media were aerobically incubated at 37 °C and 180 rpm, an OD<sub>600</sub> reading was recorded every hour over an 8 hour duration and then at 24 hours with 3 seconds of agitation before each reading. Assays were conducted in biological triplicate to allow for statistical analysis.

#### 2.5 Percentage survival

Multiple survival assays were conducted in this study determining the percentage survival of different *Salmonella* strains in varying environmental conditions. For assays requiring the calculation of percentage survival the following equation was used.

Percentage survival = (CFU/mL surviving cells) / (CFU/mL initially challenged cells) \* 100

Equation 1. Calculation of percentage survival in survival assays. (CFU; colony forming units)

#### 2.6 pH range survival assay

For pH range survival assays, O/N cultures of WT *S*. Typhimurium were standardised in pH 7.0 NCE medium to an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.4 (6 x  $10^8$  CFU/mL). Cultures were washed twice by centrifugation at 13,500 x *g* and resuspended in NCE media adjusted with hydrochloric acid (HCI) or citric acid to the appropriate pH (Either pH 3.5, 4.0, 4.4, 5.0 and 5.5 for HCl or 4.5,

5.0, 5.5, 6.0 and 6.5 for citric acid). Aliquots of the individual cultures were taken, and 10-fold serially diluted in pH 7.0 NCE and 10  $\mu$ L spots plated on LB agar to act as a t=0 control. Cultures were aerobically incubated at 37 °C and 180 rpm for 2 hours and plated as for the t=0 control, percentage survival was calculated as per Equation 1. pH range survival assays were performed in technical triplicates.

#### 2.7 Acid tolerance assays

Stationary phase ATR assays were conducted according to Lee *et al.* (2007) and Hews (2020) with alterations. WT SL1344 and respective mutant strains were grown O/N in 10 mL NCE medium (pH 7.0).

For acid adapted assays, O/N cultures were first standardised to an  $OD_{600}$  of 0.4 (6 x 10<sup>8</sup> CFU/mL). 3 mL of each the standardised cultures were washed by centrifugation at a relative centrifugal force (rcf) of 13,500 x *g*. Washed cultures were then resuspended in NCE medium adjusted with HCl to pH 4.4 and aerobically incubated at 37 °C and 180 rotations per minute (rpm) for 2 hours. After the incubation, cultures were washed at 13,500 x *g* and resuspended in NCE medium adjusted with HCl to pH 3.0. An aliquot of each culture was taken to act as the t=0 mins control, the aliquot was 10-fold serially diluted in NCE medium (pH 7.0) and 10 µL spots were plated onto LB agar. Cultures were incubated aerobically at 37 °C and 180 rpm, with aliquots taken every 15 minutes for 60 minutes total and serially diluted and plated similarly as the t=0 control.

For non-acid adapted assays, O/N cultures were standardised to an  $OD_{600}$  of 0.4 (6 x 10<sup>8</sup> CFU/mL). Standardised cultures were washed at 13,500 x *g* and resuspended in NCE medium adjusted with HCl to pH 3.0. t=0 controls were conducted following the same steps as for the adapted assay, aliquots were instead taken every 30 minutes for a total of 90 minutes and similarly 10-fold serially diluted in NCE medium (pH 7.0) with 10 µL spots plated onto LB agar.

Assays were performed in biological triplicate and technical triplicates at a minimum to allow for statistical analysis. The percentage survival for each of the cultures was calculated following Equation 1.

#### 2.8 Acid tolerance storage assay

Acid tolerance storage assays were conducted based on Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.* (2013) with modifications. WT SL1344 and respective mutant strains were grown O/N in 10 mL LB

medium, these fresh cultures were later used to produce acid adapted and non-acid adapted cells.

For acid adapted assays O/N cultures were used to inoculate 50 mL of LB medium adjusted to pH 4.4 with HCl to a final concentration of  $10^3$  cells/mL, producing acid adapted cells. Inoculated cultures were then incubated for a total of 16 hours at 37 °C and 180 rpm, or the time required to reach the late stationary phase of bacterial growth. Aliquots (50 mL) of apple and orange juice were aseptically transferred to sterile flasks and equilibrated to either 4, 25 or 37 °C. Once the required growth was reached in the cultures, 100 µL was used to inoculate 50 mL of either apple or orange juice to a final concentration of 2 x  $10^5$  cells/mL. Before inoculated flasks of apple and orange juice were then statically incubated at the equilibrated temperature. Aliquots of 100 µL were taken from the 4 °C flasks every hour for 3 hours including a sample prior to incubation to act as a t=0 control, aliquots were taken every 12 hours for 36 hours for both the 25 °C and 37 °C flasks. Aliquots were 10-fold serially diluted in PBS and 10 µL of the appropriate dilutions were plated on LB agar.

For non-acid adapted assays O/N cultures were used to inoculate 50 mL of LB medium adjusted to pH 7.0 to a final concentration of 10<sup>3</sup> cells/mL. The remainder of the assay was conducted following the same steps as for the adapted assay.

Assays were performed in biological triplicate and technical triplicates at a minimum to allow for statistical analysis. The percentage survival for each of the cultures was calculated following Equation 1.

#### 2.9 Statistical analysis

Experiments were performed in biological triplicate where appropriate, with three technical replicates to allow for statistical comparison. Data analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS (v28). Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's post hoc test or student's *t-test* was used to determine statistically significant differences between sets of data, specified in figure legends.

# Chapter 3: Elucidating the contribution of STM1250 in the Salmonella acid tolerance response

#### **3.1 Introduction**

As introduced in Chapter 1, Bacteria including *Salmonella* have many different stress responses enabling them to withstand typically lethal environmental conditions such as acidic pH, which can lead to the degradation of crucial cellular components. A variety of stress responses collectively function by regulating the *Salmonella* ATR, an adaptive mechanism which provides resistance to low acidic pH. The response functions through the precise regulation of a plethora of genes, by various stress responses. Many of the functions of these genes remain unknown, with their specific contributions towards the ATR undiscovered.

An introduction to *Salmonella* stress responses and their implications towards survival and pathogenesis was provided in Chapter 1. This chapter more specifically focuses on the survival of *Salmonella* against acidic pH, with a more in depth introduction to the components and mechanisms possessed by *Salmonella* enabling its survival against acidic conditions including a focus on the acid tolerance response. The  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated small heat shock proteins IbpA, IbpB, AgsA and the putative stress response protein STM1250 will be discussed at length in this chapter, STM1250 will be specifically explored for whether and to what extent it functions in the *Salmonella* ATR.

#### 3.1.1 The Salmonella acid tolerance response

Bacteria have evolved mechanisms to successfully colonise nearly every environmental niche on earth, this largely depended on the ability to appropriately respond to their local environmental conditions (Lund *et al.*, 2020). One of the harshest conditions for microbial survival and growth are environments saturated with protons (acidic conditions), which are measured as pH. Low pH results in the protonation of biological molecules hence altering their charge, this can disrupt the structure and function of these molecules. (Lund *et al.*, 2020). Severe acidic conditions of pH 3 or lower, are usually toxic to bacteria as protons leak across cell membranes faster than they can be removed, leading to a disruption of biological processes conferring reduced survival for the bacteria (Bearson *et al.*, 1998).

Non-typhoidal Salmonella encounters a variety of environmental conditions during its life cycle many of which are detrimental to its survival, one of the most frequently encountered hostile conditions includes acidic environments such as acidic foods and the digestive tracts of animals. Due to Salmonella being a foodborne enteric pathogen it has evolved the ability to survive in different acidic conditions, including naturally acidic food products such as cheeses and fruit juices and on food products acidified during fermentation processes (Lever and Johnson, 1992; Alvarez-Ordóñez et al., 2012). During Salmonella pathogenesis the bacteria are exposed to the extreme acidic environment of the stomach, pH levels in the human stomach are usually maintained at roughly pH 3, however, they can get as low as pH 1.5-2.5 (Audia and Forster, 2003; Forster, 2004). HCl is the main acidulent within the gastric fluid and creates a crucial barrier for enteric infection. This is apparent as mice with a mutated gastric H<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> -ATPase proton pump gene are not able to produce gastric HCl, therefore successfully acidifying the stomach (Tennant et al., 2008). Mice with this genetic mutation were shown to be more susceptible to enteric infection from pathogens including Salmonella. (Tennant et al., 2008). Despite these harsh conditions Salmonella is still able to persist in the stomach until it passes to the small intestine, causing infection (Fabrega and Vila, 2013). Once in the small intestine Salmonella attach to and invade the epithelial lining, proliferating in the epithelium and lymphoid follicles leading to a localised infection (Giannella, 1996). Phagocytic cells including macrophages are then able to engulf the Salmonella, compartmentalising them into the Salmonella containing vacuole (SCV) which is acidified to a pH of between 4 and 5 (Allam et al., 2012).

Acid stress is a complex phenomenon involving the interconnected biological effects of different acids in an environment. Although the primary acid in the stomach is HCI different forms of acid are present, including organic acids such as: lactic, propionic, butyric, and acetic acids all of which confer antimicrobial effects (Mikkelsen et al., 2004). Primarily, organic acids can diffuse across the cellular membrane when in their undissociated form (Warnecke and Gill, 2005). Weak organic acids such as acetate and lactate are protonated at low pH, therefore in acidic conditions they remain uncharged and more lipophilic, enabling them to permeate the lipid bilayer of Salmonella more freely. The higher intracellular pH of Gramnegative bacteria that remains constant at pH 7.6 to 7.8 causes the dissociation of the acid releasing H+ ions, which lowers the pH of the cytoplasm (Hirshfield et al., 2003; Alvarez-Ordóñez et al., 2012). The type of acid is therefore important to consider when investigating Salmonella acid tolerance as different acids have different antibacterial mechanisms. Even a mild acid stress of pH 5 can become lethal when weak organic acids such as acetate are present, due to an increased rate of diffusion across the membrane (Bearson et al., 1998). Survival in acidic conditions is credited to developed resistance mechanisms and stress responses which counteract the lethal pH levels, the predominant mechanism is known as the ATR.

The ATR is a crucial adaptive mechanism employed by many bacteria including *Salmonella* where it was first identified and characterised (Foster, 1999). It is defined as the mechanism

whereby exposure to mildly acidic conditions (pH 4-6), primes the cell for survival in highly acidic usually toxic acidic levels (pH 3-4) (Forster *et al.*, 1999). Pioneering work conducted by Foster (1991) in *Salmonella* Typhimurium LT2 detailed two distinct stages of the ATR in exponential phase cells. They deemed the pre-shock stage as occurring following exposure to pH 5.8, which involves the production of pH inducible homeostatic mechanisms, conferring survival benefits. The second stage of the ATR is initiated through exposure to a pH of 4.3 and results in the expression of acid shock proteins (ASPs). In combination, these two stages were shown to confer increased survival of *Salmonella* during acid challenge at pH 3.3. Follow up work by Foster (1993) suggested that the pre-shock stage of the ATR is not vital, with *Salmonella* being able to survive pH 3.3 following incubation at pH 4-5 just as a result of the expression of ASPs. The understanding of the ATR has significantly developed beyond the original descriptions in log phase cells, with the phenomenon also being established in stationary phase cells. Recent studies have provided new details of these originally established mechanisms, an updated outlook of the different regulatory and homeostatic mechanisms of the ATR will be discussed in the following sections.

#### 3.1.2 The lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems

Gram-negative bacteria such as *Salmonella* attempt to maintain intracellular pH at an optimum constant level of pH 7.6-7.8, this remains true even when extracellular pH changes (Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.*, 2012). The inducible lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems are homeostatic mechanisms which are partly induced via low pH, *Salmonella* utilises them to help retain a constant intracellular pH enabling survival in environments as low as pH 5.8 (Foster, 1991; Park *et al.*, 1996). Both systems have very similar molecular mechanisms each consisting of an antiporter and an associated amino acid decarboxylase. The mechanisms consist of a decarboxylase enzyme which is able to replace the  $\alpha$ -carboxyl groups of their respective amino acid substrate with a cytoplasmic proton. The resulting product is then secreted from the bacteria via the corresponding antiporter and exchanged for a new amino acid substrate (Viala *et al.*, 2011). The consequence of this mechanism is a reduced concentration of intracellular protons, hence intracellular pH conferring acid resistance.

The lysine decarboxylase system is comprised of the lysine decarboxylase CadA and the lysine-cadaverine antiporter CadB, together they form the *cadBA* operon. CadC is a transcriptional regulator which is able to respond to the environment inducing the *cadBA* operon in the presence of either high exogenous concentrations of lysine or a low external pH. It is thought that the CadC signal transduction mechanism consists of the proteolytic cleavage of a DNA-binding domain from the CadC protein, which then acts as a transcriptional activator

of the *cadBA* operon inducing expression of CadA and CadB (Lee *et al.*, 2008). CadA catalyses the decarboxylation of intracellular lysine and a proton converting it into cadaverine and carbon dioxide. Intracellular cadaverine is then exported out of the cell by the CadB antiporter and replaced by an extracellular lysine as visualised in Figure 3 (Park *et al.*, 1996). The arginine decarboxylase system instead consists of the arginine decarboxylase AdiA, the arginine-agmatine antiporter AdiC and the transcriptional regulator AdiY. As opposed to lysine, the consumption of a proton occurs through intracellular arginine during its decarboxylation to agmatine by AdiA, agmatine is then exported out of the cell by AdiC in return of the import of arginine which again can be seen visualised in Figure 3 (Kieboom and Abee, 2006).



**Figure 3.** Salmonella lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems. In response to the increase in intracellular pH due to the influx of protons (H+), CadA and AdiA respectively catalyse the decarboxylation of lysine or arginine in a reaction which removes H+ ions to produce Cadaverine or Agmatine. The resulting product is exported out of the cell via the antiporters CadB or AdiC in exchange for either more lysine or arginine.

The lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems have been experimentally shown to contribute towards the *Salmonella* ATR. Research conducted by Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.* (2010a) discovered that acid adapted *S.* Typhimurium in adaption media (pH 4-5) had an increased survival in usually lethal acidified media (pH 2.5) when supplemented with either lysine or arginine. These findings were then confirmed to be as a result of the lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems, with genes encoding both decarboxylases being found to be expressed at a significantly higher level in acid adapted cells of which were shown to have enhanced acid resistance. Research conducted by Viala *et al.* (2011) also established that the lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems improved *Salmonella* Typhimurium survival in acid shock media acidified to pH 2.3 and growth in pH 4.5 media. The arginine decarboxylase
system was shown to promote the best survival at pH 2.3, when the lysine decarboxylase system promoted both survival at pH 2.3 and growth at pH 4.5. Interestingly, the ornithine decarboxylase system previously characterised to contribute to acid resistance in E. coli was also shown to improve *Salmonella* survival at pH 2.3, although it was shown to have the least impact on survival compared to the other decarboxylase systems but the most on growth (Viala *et al.*, 2011). Although the importance of these decarboxylase systems has been extensively highlighted for *Salmonella* survival during acid stress, an ATR is still shown in minimal media without the amino acids required for the functioning of the decarboxylase systems (Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.*, 2010a). This therefore suggests the persistence of additional acid resistance mechanisms enabling *Salmonella* survival, the expression of ASPs have been shown to confer this underlying resistance.

#### 3.1.3 Synthesis and transcriptional regulation of acid shock proteins

The synthesis of ASPs is crucial during the ATR, cumulatively ASPs act by preventing or repairing macromolecular damage to DNA and proteins caused by acid stress (Audia et al., 2001). Although, many ASPs have been associated to the ATR, relatively little is known about their molecular interactions. However, general roles of ASPs consist of transcriptional and translational regulation, molecular chaperoning, energy metabolism, virulence, and regulation of the cellular envelope (Bearson et al., 2006). Four predominant regulatory genes are responsible for regulating the expression of different subsets of ASPs, these master regulator genes include RpoS, PhoPQ, Fur and OmpR/EnvZ (Álvarez-Ordóñez et al., 2012). As previously mentioned, the ATR occurs in exponential and stationary phases of cell growth, with acid stress in the form of inorganic and organic acids being capable of inducing the ATR (Bearson et al., 2006). It is now apparent that depending on both the growth stage and the type of acidulent different transcriptional regulators become induced, each of which regulate specific subsets of ASPs. Studies into ASPs expression have discovered that there are 51 ASPs expressed for the log-phase ATR and 15 for the stationary-phase ATR, with only a few thought to be expressed in both (Bearson et al., 1996). The type of transcriptional regulator and the corresponding conditions for their induction will be discussed in the next section. The extracytoplasmic sigma factor  $\sigma^{E}$  has been recently implicated in the regulation of ASPs, and therefore will be discussed alongside the previously mentioned core bacterial stress responses.

#### 3.1.3.1 PhoPQ

The PhoPQ two-component system controls the expression of a large regulon of genes that regulate numerous cellular activities (Groisman, 2001). The PhoQ sensor kinase is activated by AMPs and low pH, it functions directly as a pH sensor for the intracellular environment and upon stimulation phosphorylates the response regulator protein PhoP enabling it to bind to DNA (Bearson *et al.*, 1998; Prost *et al.*, 2007). Expression of PhoP is induced by a moderate acid pH of 4.4, which consequently promotes the transcription of many PhoP regulated genes involved in the exponential phase ATR in *Salmonella* (Bearson *et al.*, 1998). Studies into the precise mechanism of PhoQ induction uncovered that under acidic conditions the periplasmic domain of PhoQ undergoes a conformational change, this is distinct to the conformational change which occurs from AMP activation. However, disruption and loss of AMP activation does not affect the ability of PhoQ to respond to pH activation, with the two mechanisms in fact being additive (Prost *et al.*, 2007).

An early study on the ATR determined that *Salmonella* ∆phoP mutants are highly sensitive to acid stress, therefore suggesting the importance of PhoP in the ATR (Foster and Hall, 1990). A later study conducted by Bearson (1998) confirmed these results and suggested that phoP mutants failed to induce four ASPs which otherwise would be induced in wildtype cells, one of these ASPs was determined as being PhoP itself the other three however had unknown identifies. Interestingly, they detailed that PhoP is crucial for resistance towards inorganic acids but not for organic acids. The PhoPQ system has also been linked to regulating the genes adiA, adiY, cadA and cadB involved in the lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems, with a phoP mutant being shown to significantly reduce the levels of the genes in acid adapted cells (Lang *et al.*, 2021). This is significant as is suggests the PhoPQ system has a role in the ATR by sensing pH and either directly or indirectly regulating the lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems as a mechanism to reduce intracellular acidity.

#### 3.1.3.2 RpoS

The alternative sigma factor RpoS is the master regulator of the general stationary phase stress response in *Salmonella*, conferring resistance to a multitude of different environmental stresses including acidic pH. Significantly, RpoS also plays important roles in the exponential growth phase when under stressful conditions (Melendez *et al.*, 2022). The cellular level of RpoS is regulated by transcription, translation, and posttranslational stability, with the type of regulation directly correlating to the stress condition present (Ibanez-Ruiz *et al.*, 2000). RpoS is induced under different circumstances, with the expression of ASPs dependent on whether

an acid-inducible log-phase or pH independent stationary phase ATR is present (Lee *et al.*, 1995). The low pH log-phase induction of RpoS at pH 4.3 leads to the expression of 8 ASPs and is separated into two distinct mechanisms of induction depending on the type of acidulent, either organic or inorganic (Lee *et al.*, 1995). Inorganic stress leads to the inhibition of RpoS proteolysis via the mouse virulence gene *mviA*, resulting in an increased cellular level of RpoS which then drives expression of ASPs (Bearson *et al.*, 1996). However, organic acid stress results in the stabilisation of the RpoS protein and increases the translation of *rpoS*, this process is controlled by secondary structures in the untranslated region (UTR) of *rpoS* mRNA (Audia and Foster, 2003). RpoS also functions in the pH-independent stationary-phase ATR, with the RpoS protein being expressed upon entry into stationary-phase as part of the general stress response (Lee *et al.*, 1994). Interestingly, due to the nature of the general stress including heat, osmolarity and hydrogen peroxide. However, cross resistance to acid stress is not provided during exposure to these stresses (Lee *et al.*, 1995).

#### 3.1.3.3 Fur

The ferric uptake regulator (Fur) is a transcription factor which was first characterised by its ability to bind  $Fe^{2+}$  utilising it as a corepressor to repress the synthesis of iron-chelating sideophores. Fur was also established to either directly or indirectly control the expression of enzymes which protect the cell from reactive oxygen damage caused by the acquisition of iron (Troxell and Hassan, 2013). Later studies have however since discovered further roles of Fur in cellular physiology, including in the regulation of the ATR. An investigation conducted by Foster (1991) first identified that fur mutations in *Salmonella* Typhimurium confer acid-sensitive phenotypes. Follow-up work by Foster (1993) determined that this phenotype was as a result of aberrant synthesis of some ASPs. The induction of Fur following acid stress is not deeply understood. However, it is clear that Fur is able to sense low intracellular pH, with the presence of iron alone not enough to trigger the ATR. Similarly to RpoS, Fur also plays a role in the ATR of log phase cells and predominantly responds to organic acid stress (Bearson *et al.,* 1998). The role of Fur in acid and iron regulation is genetically separable, this is evident from site directed mutagenesis experiments which determined that the H90R Fur mutant is able to mediate the ATR but not iron regulation (Hall and Foster, 1996).

#### 3.1.3.4 OmpR/EnvZ

OmpR and EnvZ are two proteins which together form the two component system OmpR/EnvZ, EnvZ functions as a membrane bound sensor kinase when OmpR acts as the

corresponding response regulator (Forst and Roberts, 1994). The OmpR/EnvZ signal transduction system has been well characterised in its ability to regulate osmolarity associated stress via the transcriptional regulation of the OmpC and OmpF porins. EnvZ is able to sense changes in osmolarity, with high osmolarity resulting in its autophosphorylation (Taylor et al., 1981). EnvZ then transfers the phosphate group to OmpR which enables DNA binding and therefore the transcriptional activation of target genes (Hsing and Silhavy, 1997). The OmpR/EnvZ TCS has been described as also regulating the stationary phase ATR. ΔompR mutants were shown to elicit a normal exponential phase ATR, cells were however not able to survive during stationary phase growth (Bang et al., 2000). Interestingly, the sensor kinase EnvZ alongside the porin genes OmpC and OmpF were not required for the stationary phase ATR. Instead, the alternate phosphodonor acetyl phosphate seems to instead play a role in the phosphorylation of OmpR, leading to the expression of ASPs (Bang et al., 2000). The mechanism of acid shock induction of ompR is different from basal expression, with a different promoter being used depending on whether a low or neutral pH is present in the cell (Bang et al., 2002). Although OmpR has been determined to play a crucial role in the stationary phase ATR, little research has been conducted on OmpR-regulated ASP genes and how they are involved in this ATR.

#### 3.1.3.5 RpoE

The extracytoplasmic sigma factor  $\sigma^{E}$  encoded by *rpoE* is important for the maintenance of cell envelope homeostasis in Salmonella and other Gram-negative bacteria. RpoE expression is induced via many different stress factors which change or damage the cell envelope. Specifically, the presence of misfolded and/or mis-translocated OMPs or LPS within the periplasm results in the activation of the RpoE pathway (Bang et al., 2005; Rowley et al., 2006). Acid stress has been identified as one of the factors which induces the expression of RpoE, this was identified through investigation of  $\sigma^{E}$ -deficient Salmonella mutants which displayed increased susceptibility to acid pH (Muller et al., 2009). The mechanism of RpoE induction as a result of acid stress occurs in a non-canonical way, first shown in a study which investigated the impact of DegS which is important for the induction of RpoE on virulence. A mutant strain deficient in DegS was demonstrated to not be as attenuated in mice compared to rpoE mutants, this is significant as it suggests that rpoE activation still occurs just via an alternative pathway (Rowley et al., 2005). A follow up study also determined that DegS was dispensable in the acid activation of RpoE, the unfolded OMP signal was also not required. However, the processing of RseA by RseP is required, suggesting that during the absence of DegS an inhibitory reaction between RseA and RseP enable RseA proteolysis leading to the loss of RpoE inhibition (Muller et al., 2009).

#### 3.1.4 $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated proteins

The ability to sense different stresses is paramount for bacterial survival both in a host and in the environment. The characterisation of different *Salmonella* stress responses and their involvement in responding to different stresses is well established in the literature. Although the regulons of these stress responses are somewhat studied, the majority of regulon members are poorly described or have unknown roles. The  $\sigma^{E}$  response previously discussed has been thoroughly investigated in *Salmonella* with the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon being identified. Significantly, an investigation into the regulon identified 23 genes not previously shown to be dependent on  $\sigma^{E}$ , many of which specific to *Salmonella* (Skovierova *et al., 2006*). Many isolated genes were also determined as having unknown functions including *ibpA*, *ibpB* and *agsA*. One of the genes *STM1250*, specific to *Salmonella* was reported as only encoding a hypothetical protein with its precise intracellular role also unknown (Skovierova *et al., 2006*).

The *Salmonella* lbp (Inclusion body protein) A and B (IbpAB) and AgsA (aggregation suppression protein A) proteins are classified as sHsps and are deemed as such due to a conserved  $\alpha$ -crystalline domain, a molecular weight of 12 to 42 kDa and have the ability to both function as ATP independent chaperones and to form multimetric structures (Narberhaus, 2002). The role of sHsps is to inhibit the aggregation of unfolded and folded proteins caused by conditions which negatively affect protein conformation such as heat and oxidative stress, the nomenclature of sHsps is misleading as these proteins are utilised during many different stresses including heat stress (Haslbeck *et al.*, 2019).

IbpAB are encoded by the genes *ibpA* and *ibpB* separated by 110 nt, they have been shown to be induced as a result of increased levels of insoluble proteins, consequently causing the formation of inclusion bodies which are large aggregates of proteins (Allen *et al.*, 1992). In addition to binding to overexpressed heterologous proteins IbpAB can also bind endogenous protein aggregates arising from stress such as heat shock (Laskowska *et al.*, 1996). They function as a mediator of denatured proteins facilitating the initiation step of the refolding pathway (Haselbeck *et al.*, 2019). Co-dependency has also been suggested to occur between IbpA and IbpB, with IbpA in-fact forming inactive fibrils in the absence of IbpB, further investigation is needed to establish the implications of protein interactions of IbpAB on their ability as chaperones (Ratajczak *et al.*, 2010). The expression of *ibpAB* is regulated by the heat shock sigma factor  $\sigma^{H}$  and as previously suggested additionally by  $\sigma^{E}$  (Kuczynska-Wisnik *et al.*, 2001).

Unlike IbpAB, AgsA (STM1251) is specific to *Salmonella,* functionally it can reduce thermallyaggregated intracellular proteins hence increasing survival in response to heat stress (Tomoyasu et al., 2003). Similarly to IbpAB, AgsA can been shown to be implicated in the prevention of aggregation of endogenous proteins, including prevention of protein aggregates arising from heat stress increasing survival (Tomoyasu et al., 2003). Regulation of *agsA* expression like *ibpAB* is controlled by the heat shock sigma factor  $\sigma^{H}$  and the extracytoplasmic sigma factor  $\sigma^{E}$ . However, unique to *ibpAB* is the regulation of *agsA* by the housekeeping sigma factor  $\sigma^{D}$  (Tomoyasu et al., 2003; Skovierova *et al.*, 2006). Through investigation *agsA* has been determined to have high sequence similarity and shared transcriptional regulators to both *ibpA* and *ibpB*, therefore it has been predicted that functional overlap exists between the proteins. Interestingly, *agsA* also forms an operon with *STM1250* so is hypothesised to function in conjunction with AgsA and therefore also interact with IbpAB (Skovierova *et al.*, 2006).

Due to their location in the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon IbpA, IbpB, AgsA and STM1250 have been hypothesised to have a role in Salmonella  $\sigma^{E}$  stress responses. In a recently published article Hews et al. (2019) investigated the roles of STM1250 as well as other sHsps IbpA, IbpB and AgsA in the Salmonella envelope stress response, with an attempt to elucidate if and under function what stresses these proteins in. lt was discovered that а  $\Delta STM1250 \Delta ibp A \Delta ibp B \Delta agsA$  quadruple mutant was significantly more sensitive to hydrogen peroxide, had a lower minimum bactericidal concentration to the cationic antimicrobial peptide polymyxin B and is attenuated in macrophages. Interestingly, it was identified that single gene mutants were not similarly affected, suggesting functional redundancy exists between these proteins.

In an unpublished thesis by Hews (2020) working in the Rowley laboratory STM1250 was shown to be important in the *Salmonella* ATR. An acid adapted STM1250 mutant had a significant reduction in survival in the first 30 minutes of exposure to inorganic acid shock of pH 3.0, this was true for mutant strains both grown to exponential and stationary phases. Similar findings were also established in response to cells adapted and shocked in the organic acid, acetic acid. These findings suggest that STM1250 is important in the *Salmonella* ATR during the initial stages of acid exposure, with the growth phase or acidulent seeming irrelevant. Consequently, this was also the first evidence suggesting a specific role of STM1250 in *S*. Typhimurium. These interesting findings identified by Hews warrant further investigation to both confirm her results and to fully elucidate the contributions of STM1250 on the *Salmonella* ATR.

#### 3.1.5 Chapter Aims

The majority of work conducted on sHsps including IbpAB and their functions has been conducted in non-pathogenic strains of *E. coli*, leaving only a very limited understanding of the proteins in *Salmonella*. Hews *et al.* (2019) was the first to conduct preliminary functional work in *Salmonella* on the sHsps IbpAB and the *Salmonella* specific proteins AgsA and STM1250, identifying previously undiscovered roles for the proteins in envelope stress responses. In an unpublished thesis by Hews (2020) STM1250 was discovered to be important for the early stages of the *Salmonella* ATR in response to the inorganic acid HCl and the organic acid, acetic acid. As outlined in this chapter IbpAB, AgsA and STM1250 are each regulated via  $\sigma^{E}$ , highlighting the feasibility of their involvement in stress responses in some capacity. Therefore, we hypothesise that STM1250 does in-fact contribute to the *Salmonella* ATR by acting in the initial stages of acid exposure in a generalised fashion not being dependent on the environmental condition or growth phase.

The aims of this chapter extend from the previous unpublished findings of Hews (2020) in the Rowley laboratory. Since STM1250 was shown to be associated to the *Salmonella* ATR, initial confirmative experimentation will be conducted determining the reproducibility of findings that STM1250 solely is important, and that functional redundancy is not present between the other sHsps. This chapter will also expand on initial findings attempting to provide a better understanding of the physiological roles of STM1250, and under what stress conditions it functions in. Specifically, STM1250s range of influence will be assessed, determining whether it is also required in the ATR mounted against organic acids commonly found in both naturally and artificially acidic foods.

Theses aims where achieved through:

- Assessing the survival of △STM1250 single, △STM1250△IbpAB double and △STM1250△ibpA△ibpB△agsA mutants in acid shock conditions acidified with HCI. Determining whether previous findings by Hews (2020) can be replicated, confirming a specific role of STM1250 in the Salmonella acid tolerance response.
- Expanding previous findings assessing the survival of the △STM1250 mutant in acid shock conditions acidified with citric acid. Dertermining whether STM1250 functions against acidic conditions commonly associated to naturally acidic foods and in food preservation and sterilisation.

#### 3.2 Results

#### 3.2.1 Growth of mutant strains is not significantly reduced in minimal media

Growth curves were first conducted in order to confirm that any significant differences between mutant strains (Single  $\Delta STM1250$  mutant, Double  $\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$  mutant and quadruple  $\Delta STM1250\Delta ibpA\Delta ibpB\Delta agsA$  mutant) and the WT in later assays utilising NCE media are due to the loss of the gene, and not as a result of the strains ability to grow in minimal media. Growth curves were performed alongside a WT strain in order to determine their baseline growth in pH 7.0 no-carbon essential (NCE) minimal media supplemented with 0.4% (w/v) glucose and 400µg/mL histidine. The growth of the mutant strains followed that of the WT in pH 7.0 NCE (Figure 4). This suggests that none of the mutants had any growth restrictions in NCE media.



**Figure 4. Growth of WT and** *Salmonella* **mutant strains are not significantly reduced in** pH **7.0 NCE medium.** Respective strains of *Salmonella* were used to inoculate NCE medium and incubated at 37 °C, 180 rpm for 24 hours. Aliquots (1 mL) were taken every hour for 8 hours with a final sample taken at 24 hours. OD<sub>600</sub> readings were measured after collection.

Data points are the culmination of three means produced from three individual experiments performed in triplicate. Error bars are SEM.

#### 3.2.2 HCl and citric acid pH range survival assay

During the acid tolerance assay there is a 2-hour adaption period in a mild acidic pH of 4.4 which induces the *Salmonella* ATR. As incubation in different acids results in different levels of bacterial inactivation a pH range survival assay was conducted on both HCl and citric acid, this was to determine an acceptable pH to limit the level of bacterial inactivation during the adaption period. WT *Salmonella* cultures were inoculated into a range of media adjusted to different pHs ranging from 3.5 - 5.5 for HCl, and 4.5 - 6.5 for citric acid and then incubated for 2 hours. Prior to incubation a sample was taken and CFU were determined acting as the base line, post incubation another sample was taken to allow for the calculation of percentage survival.

The HCl assay displayed a correlation between pH and bacterial inactivation, with a higher pH resulting in lower bacterial inactivation (Figure 5). At pH 4.4 the bacterial inactivation was relatively low with the percentage survival being 85.24%. Similarly, the same correlation was displayed in the citric acid assay (Figure 5). However, a much greater bacterial inactivation was evident at the corresponding pHs compared to the HCl assay. pH 5.0 produced the closest percentage survival to that of pH 4.4 in the HCl assay with 88.39%.



Figure 5. Survival of WT Salmonella in NCE medium adjusted to a range of pHs with either HCl or citric acid. NCE medium adjusted to a range of pHs with either HCl or citric acid was inoculated with WT Salmonella and incubated at 37 °C, 180 rpm for 2 hours. Samples were taken prior and post incubation in order to calculate percentage survival. Data points are the means of a single experiment performed in triplicate.

## 3.2.3 The survival of the acid adapted quadruple mutant is reduced compared to WT during stationary phase growth in HCI acidified NCE media

The percentage survival of non-acid adapted and acid adapted (inducing the ATR)  $\Delta STM1250\Delta ibpA\Delta ibpB\Delta agsA$  quadruple mutants were analysed compared to a WT in acid shock media (pH 3.0). This was to determine whether the genes of interest were associated

with unadapted survival in acidic conditions and if they are associated with the stationary ATR in adapted cultures. The quadruple mutant was grown to stationary phase and then assessed for its ability to survive an acidic challenge of pH 3.0. Strains were either pre-incubated at a pH of 4.4 in order to induce the ATR, or challenged in acid shock without pre-incubation. Strains were first grown overnight in NCE medium (pH 7.0) and then standardised to an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.4, the respective strains were then transferred to either adaption media inducing an ATR or to acid shock media. For the adapted ATR induced cultures, the bacteria were incubated for 2 hours at 37 °C in NCE media adapted to pH 4.4 with the inorganic acid HCI. Cultures were then transferred to acid shock media of pH 3.0 and further incubated at 37 °C, aliquots were taken every 15 minutes over an hour period. For acid shock cultures the bacteria were added straight to acid shock media, aliquots were taken every 30 minutes over a 90 minute time period. Percentage survival was calculated relative to samples taken at t=0 control time points.

Both the WT and quadruple mutant unadapted strains exhibited a reduction in percentage survival over the 90-minute time period, with both strains approximately falling by 85%. Crucially, there was no significant difference between WT and quadruple mutants ability to survive acid challenge (Figure 6). Acid adapted strains contrastingly only had a mean overall reduction in percentage survival of approximately 20%. Interestingly, a significant difference between WT and mutant strain percentage survival was displayed (Figure 6). The WT strain experienced an increase in survival over the first 15 minutes, followed by a steady reduction and then another increase at 60 minutes. In comparison the quadruple mutant did not show this initial increase in percentage survival, with a significant difference in survival being observed over the first 15 minutes.



Figure 6. Survival of the acid adapted  $\Delta$ STM1250 $\Delta$ ibpA $\Delta$ ibpB $\Delta$ agsA mutant was significantly reduced after 15 minutes during acid shock adjusted with HCI, compared to the WT. Un-adapted cultures were added to pH 3.0 acid shock media acidified with HCI and incubated for 90 minutes. Aliquots of 1 mL were taken every 30 minutes and a percentage survival calculated relative to the control t=0 sample. Adapted cultures were instead added to pH 4.4 adaption media following standardisation and incubated for 2 hours. Strains were then transferred to acid shock media and incubated for 60 minutes, with aliquots taken every 15 minutes. Data points are the means of 5 experiments performed in triplicate, error bars are SEM. Data points were analysed for significant difference using Student's t-test, p values below 0.05 were deemed significant. \*\* p < 0.005.

## 3.2.4 STM1250 is solely required for the stationary phase ATR response in S. Typhimurium in the presence of HCI

The previous identification of the acid adapted quadruple mutant having reduced survival warranted further investigation of the  $\Delta STM1250$  single and  $\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$  double mutants, this was in order to determine individual importance of the genes in the stationary phase ATR. The same procedure was used in the investigation of the single and double mutants as with the quadruple mutant. Similar to the previous experiment unadapted strains did not show a significant difference in percentage survival compared to the WT (Figure 7). Interestingly, the overall reduction in percentage survival of the mutant strains was approximately 70% when the WT was approximately 50%, although this was deemed as not being significantly different. In contrast a significant difference in percentage survival was deemed between the single mutant and the WT at both 15- and 30-minute time points. However, the double mutant. Interestingly, each strain showed a distinct increase in percentage survival at the 60-minute time interval, with the double mutant in-fact returning to 100%.



Figure 7. Survival of the acid adapted  $\Delta$ *STM1250* mutant but not the  $\Delta$ *STM1250* $\Delta$ *agsA* double mutant was significantly reduced after 15 and 30 minutes in its ability to survive acid shock of pH 3.0 adjusted with HCI, compared to WT. Unadapted cultures were added to pH 3.0 acid shock media acidified with HCI and incubated for 90 minutes. Aliquots of 1 mL were taken every 30 minutes and a percentage survival calculated relative to the control t=0 sample. Adapted cultures were instead added to pH 4.4 adaption and incubated for 2 hours. Strains were then transferred to acid shock media and incubated for 60 minutes, with aliquots taken every 15 minutes. Data points are the means of 7 experiments performed in triplicate, error bars are SEM. Data points were analysed for significant difference using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-test, p values below 0.05 were deemed significant. \* p < 0.05.

## 3.2.5 STM1250 is involved in the stationary phase ATR response in the presence of citric acid

The previous ATR assays used the inorganic acid HCl to acidify the adaption and shock media. To get a deeper understanding of the influence of STM1250 in the *Salmonella* ATR the assay was repeated using the organic acid, citric acid. Due to the findings that STM1250 was solely responsible for the *Salmonella* ATR, the survival of only WT and  $\Delta$ *STM1250* was investigated in the presence of citric acid. Bacterial cultures were adapted in NCE media adjusted to pH 5.0 with citric acid, this is due to the previous results collected from the pH range assay which determined that adaption in pH 4.4 as used with HCl would lead to an unacceptable amount of bacterial inactivation. The acid shock media was additionally altered to a pH of 3.5 as to not result in excessive bacterial inactivation.

In accordance with previous ATR assays there was no significant difference in survival between unadapted WT and the  $\Delta STM1250$  mutant cultures. Interestingly, despite the alteration of the adaption and shock media pH, the overall findings were replicated. The percentage survival of the  $\Delta STM1250$  mutant was significantly lower in comparison to the WT after 15 minutes of incubation at pH 3.5 (Figure 8). Similar to previous assays the reduction of percentage survival of both *Salmonella* strains in the adapted assay were smaller to that of the unadapted assay. With percentage survival only reducing by a mean 58.7% in the adapted assay compared to 82.43% in the unadapted assay.



Figure 8. Survival of the acid adapted  $\triangle$ *STM1250* mutant was significantly reduced after 15 minutes in its ability to survive acid shock of pH 3.0 adjusted with citric acid, compared to WT. Unadapted cultures were transferred to pH 3.5 acid shock media (adjusted with citric acid) and incubated for 90 minutes. Aliquots of 1 mL were taken every 30 minutes and a percentage survival calculated relative to the control t=0 sample. Adapted cultures were instead added to pH 5.0 adaption media and incubated for 2 hours. Strains were then transferred to acid shock media and incubated for 60 minutes, with aliquots taken every 15 minutes. Data points are the means of 3 experiments performed in triplicate, error bars are SEM. Data points were analysed for significant difference using Student's t-test, p values below 0.05 were deemed significant. \* p < 0.05.

#### 3.3 Discussion

Overall, this chapter aimed to confirm previous unpublished findings by Hews (2020). Predominately, confirming that STM1250 solely is important for the *Salmonella* ATR in the presence of either inorganic acid (HCI) which is host associated due to its abundance in host digestive systems, or organic acid (citric acid) which is associated with certain food products and food preservatives. The possibility that functional redundancy exists between the sHsps and STM1250 in the *Salmonella* ATR was additionally assessed. RpoE has been shown to be induced by acid shock in *Salmonella*, therefore suggesting an involvement of RpoE in the ATR (Muller *et al.*, 2009). However, further information in the literature surrounding RpoE-regulated proteins is very limited, with the extent of their contribution or roles in the acid shock response undefined. In this chapter, we confirmed the contribution of STM1250 in the *Salmonella* ATR in the presence of citric acid.

#### 3.3.1 STM1250 is important for the Salmonella ATR in the presence of HCI

The previous association of STM1250 to the Salmonella ATR was highlighted by Hews (2020), previous to this no role specific to STM1250 had been determined. To assess the significance of these findings confirmatory studies were conducted, determining whether the findings are reproducible. The survival of WT and  $\triangle STM1250 \triangle ibpA \triangle ibpB \triangle agsA$  quadruple mutants following acid shock in pH 3.0 NCE acidified with HCI, with or without a 2-hour adaption period in pH 4.4 NCE acidified with HCl were first assessed. Acid adapted quadruple mutants were first confirmed to indeed have a reduced percentage survival following incubation in acid shock media (Figure 6), with a marked reduction in survival occurring within the 15 minutes of incubation. These results suggest a role for the genes in the mutant to mount the ATR. In addition, the unadapted assay confirmed there was no significant difference between the WT and quadruple mutant, suggesting that none of the genes ibpAB, STM1250 or agsA are important for non-acid adapted survival in acid stress conditions acidified with HCI. Further ATR experiments performed in the same manner identified that the  $\triangle$ STM1250 mutant was independently responsible for the reduction in survival within the first 30 minutes of acid shock. This was in accordance with the findings in Hews (2020), therefore we conclude that STM1250 is important for the early stages of acid exposure in the ATR.

Of importance was the lack of a reduction in survival of the  $\Delta STM1250 \Delta agsA$  double mutant, which instead failed so show a significant difference from either the WT or the single  $\Delta STM1250$  mutant. This is unexpected as the expectation is that the double mutant would share a similar reduction in percentage survival to the single mutant as the same genes are

omitted. However, it is possible that the absence of *agsA* in the double mutant confers a survival benefit to *Salmonella*. This may be as a result of functional redundancy between AgsA and IbpAB, which has been previously shown Hews (2020). Therefore, the double mutant IbpAB may be overexpressed conferring a survival benefit. However, in the same thesis by Hews (2020) no survival disadvantage was identified in acid adapted  $\Delta ibpAB$  mutants following acid challenge, suggesting the genes have no function in the *Salmonella* ATR. Further experimentation would be required to prove whether functional redundancy between AgsA and IbpAB infers a survival advantage towards *Salmonella* and its ability to survive acid challenge.

Transcriptomic analysis has been previously studied in Salmonella Typhimurium under the ATR. STM1250 was discovered as being upregulated after an acid adaption phase which consisted of incubation in minimal E glucose media adjusted to pH 4.4 with HCI (Ryan et al., 2015). These findings support data presented in this chapter as STM1250 was determined as having a role in the ATR, this is consistent with it becoming upregulated during the acid adaption period. The use of minimal media and the same pH and acidulent as the acid tolerance assays in this chapter, bolsters the relevance of these supporting claims. Of additional importance was the upregulation of STM1250 was no longer apparent following acid shock for 1 hour in media adjusted to pH 3.1 by HCI (Ryan et al., 2015). This also corroborates findings in this chapter, as STM1250 was only determined as being important in the initial stages of acid shock in the first 30 minutes of acid shock exposure. A more recent transcriptional analysis on Salmonella acid tolerance had somewhat contrasting results compared to the previous Ryan et al. (2015) study. The investigation conducted by Cao et al. (2019) only assessed gene regulation post acid adaption and acid shock. STM1250 was determined as being upregulated after 1 hour of acid shock, contrasting findings in this chapter as STM1250 did not appear to be important in the ATR after an hour post acid shock. Although the adaption and acid shock pHs were the same as the Ryan et al. (2015) study, Cao et al. (2019) did not mention the type of acid used to adjust the media. Additionally, they utilised tryptic soy broth (TSB) a type of complex media. It may be beneficial to conduct acid tolerance assays as seen in this chapter with complex media, determining whether in fact STM1250 may have a yet unknown function in the ATR only apparent in complex media.

#### 3.3.2 STM1250 is important for the Salmonella ATR in the presence of citric acid

Various methods are utilised during food processing to make products safe for consumers. A common technique is the use of antimicrobial agents which preserve food by preventing the growth of pathogenic and deteriorative microorganisms. This includes organic acids which act

by lowering the pH to levels where microorganisms stop proliferating (García-García and Searle, 2016). The organic acid, citric acid is widely used in the food industry due to its antimicrobial properties. This is a result of its acidulation, enabling the preservation of foods such as tomato juice, ice cream, beverages, salad dressing and more (Søltoft-Jensen and Hansen, 2005). However, research has been conducted warning the use of certain antimicrobial agents in food processing including organic acids. This is due to the ability of bacteria especially *Salmonella* in developing greater tolerance to stresses including acid stress, such as the onset of the ATR. Acid adapted cells can also confer cross-protection with other environmental stresses, thus together increasing their persistence throughout the food chain (Dubois-Brissonnet, 2011). Although this is significant for artificially acidified food products, the same applies for naturally acidified food products such as fruit juices. Should *Salmonella* contamination be completely avoided during food processing, a more advanced comprehension of the innate mechanisms of stress responses and especially the ATR are fundamental. Determining the influence of STM1250 in the ATR in response to organic acids may inform on new ways to target *Salmonella* survival during food processing.

After confirmation of STM1250s importance in the *Salmonella* ATR in the presence of the inorganic acid HCl the survival of the  $\Delta STM1250$  mutant to the organic acid, citric acid was assessed. ATR assays were performed with a less acidic pH in the citric acid assays in comparison to the HCl assays, with the citric acid adaption media having a pH of 5.0 and the shock media 3.5. This was in accordance with the findings in the pH range survival assay. Which determined that the bacterial inactivation seen at pH 4.4 in the HCl assay most closely matched that of pH 5.0 in the citric acid assay, a relatively small difference of pH 0.6. In support of the findings in the pH range survival assay, previous studies have highlighted the survival ability of *Salmonella* in citric acid and HCl to be similar at low pH. This is however relative to other organic acids such as acetic acid, which *Salmonella* is highly sensitive to (Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.*, 2010b). Interestingly an equal response was observed in citric acid adapted *Salmonella* cells regardless of the slight change in pH from the HCl assay, with a significant reduction in percentage survival of the  $\Delta STM1250$  mutant observed after 15 minutes in acid shock. STM1250 is therefore seemingly important in the initial stages of the ATR in the presence of citric acid.

Citric acid is a weak acid defined as triprotic due to its three dissociable protons that undergo sequential ionisation to form three distinct negatively charged species as seen in Figure 9 (Burel *et al.*, 2021). Weak acids are able to diffuse freely across bacterial membranes when it their undissociated form due to their lipophilic nature (Hirshfield *et al.*, 2003). The precise antimicrobial mode of action is still not fully understood for citric acid. However, it is thought

that in its un-charged, undissociated state (CAH<sub>3</sub>) citric acid can freely cross microbial membranes. Once within the cytoplasm, citric acid dissociates into citrate anions and protons which causes the acidification of intracellular compartments. This acidification can confer functional and structural damages or modifies enzyme function, structural proteins, DNA, and can destabilise the outer membrane via chelation or intercalation (Mani-López *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, the reduction in survival of the  $\Delta$ *STM1250* mutant in the presence of both inorganic and organic acids suggests STM1250 does not act in a specialist manner restricted to a type of acidulent, but instead may function in a generalised fashion by increasing or maintaining intracellular pH or responding to structural damage caused by low pH.



**Figure 9. The ionisation states of citric acid.** Citric acid exists in its undissociated form  $CAH_3$  at low pH, as pH increases citric acid dissociates releasing a proton at each ionisation state. Adapted from (Burel *et al.*, 2021).

#### 3.3.3 Summary

Overall, in this chapter STM1250 has been confirmed to have an independent and significant role in the initial stages of the *Salmonella* ATR in the presence of HCl. Novel roles for STM1250 have also been reported in the ATR in the presence of citric acid. Together these findings are highly suggestive of a generalised role of STM1250 early stages of acid exposure in the ATR, with the type of acidulent not dependent on its functioning. Potential functional redundancy has also been reported between AgsA and IbpAB for the first time in the *Salmonella* ATR. This would be interesting to further investigate determining whether there is in fact functional redundancy between the genes during the *Salmonella* ATR, and if the overexpression of IbpAB confers a survival benefit in *Salmonella's* ability to tolerate acid stress.

# Chapter 4: Investigating the importance of the acid tolerance response and STM1250 in food safety

#### 4.1 Introduction

In chapter 3, a novel function of STM1250 was established in the *Salmonella* ATR in response to the organic acid, citric acid. As previously mentioned, citric acid is a common preservative used in the food industry to limit the levels of pathogenic and deteriorative microorganisms. There are also many naturally acidified food products such as fruit juices which contain varying amounts of organic acids including citric acid. Naturally acidified food products such as fruit juices have been associated with outbreaks of *Salmonella*. Therefore, in this chapter we sought out to investigate the importance of the *Salmonella* ATR during exposure to acid stress from naturally acidified orange and apple fruit juices, specifically assessing the importance of STM1250 in the ATR in fruit juice over a range of storage temperatures.

#### 4.1.1 Implications of the ATR on Food safety

Although extensive research has been conducted on the molecular mechanisms governing the *Salmonella* ATR, it is important to note that very few studies have focused on the implications of this response in *Salmonella* survival in foodstuffs and therefore what impacts it might have on food safety measures. The majority of investigations on the *Salmonella* ATR have been conducted using complex or minimal media, this has been successful in identifying specific conditions required in the induction of the ATR. Some studies have started to associate the existence of similar adaptive responses in acidic foods and foods acidified during processing. Many of the studies conducted in the literature however focus on the induction of the ATR during the processing of meat products, with many investigations being conducted on meat extract. Although relevant to this investigation as it informs on the ability of *Salmonella* to mount an ATR in response to artificially acidified products, only a select few organic acids are typically used artificially so limited information can be inferred to naturally acidified food products.

Leyer and Johnson. (1992) first showed that acid adapted cells survived better compared to non-adapted cells in different dairy products such as cheeses or milk during fermentation by lactic acid. Adapted cells displayed increased resistance to organic acids including lactic, propionic and acetic acids commonly found in cheese. Similar observations have also been reported in fruit juices, with acid adapted cells displaying increased survival in orange juice compared to non-acid adapted cells (Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.*, 2013). Not only have acid adapted cells been shown to have increased survival in dairy products and fruit juices but also in beef products. An investigation by Lang *et al.* (2021) similarly determined that acid-adapted strains had increased survival in long-term storage of meat extract, suggesting the persistence

of the ATR during production and storage. Significantly, low temperatures were again linked to the inhibition of the ATR highlighting the importance of low temperature during slaughter and storage of meat products (Lang *et al.*, 2021).

The evidence that acid adapted cells have increased survival in different acidic food environments is noteworthy, this is because in the food industry bacteria including *Salmonella* can become acid adapted in various ways. The potential induction of the ATR may occur following incubation in low pH environments commonly found during food processing, subsequently leading to prolonged bacterial survival in food products posing a significant risk to food safety. This may additionally enhance *Salmonellas* ability to survive in the digestive system or inside the SCV resulting in disease (Álvarez-Ordóñez et al., 2012). The presence of low pH frequently occurs in food processing. Industrial interventions such as the use of rinsing solutions containing organic acids and acid solutions as antimicrobial sprays on produce and animal carcasses. These processes can create environments with pH values ranging from 4.5 to 5.5, enough to induce an ATR (Samelis *et al., 2002*).

As previously mentioned, *Salmonella* is a zoonotic pathogen therefore the majority of food borne outbreaks of *Salmonella* are attributed to contaminated meat products such as poultry, beef and pork. *Salmonella* Typhimurium outbreaks have also been reported in naturally acidified food products such as fruit juices, however little attention has been assigned to the reasoning behind these outbreaks. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) receives reports of food-associated outbreaks of illness. A report conducted by Vojdani *et al.* (2008) determined that 5 reported outbreaks in fruit juice were caused by *Salmonella* between 1995 and 2005, leading to 710 cases and 94 hospitalisations. Another reported nationwide outbreak occurred in the United States in 2005, with a reported 152 cases in 23 states. The illness was associated with the consumption of unpasteurised orange juice (Jain *et al.*, 2009). Apple juice is another apparent vector for *Salmonella* Typhimurium, with an outbreak in 1974 leading to 296 cases of disease being traced back to commercial apple cider (CDC, 1975). Evidently orange and apple juices provide a vector for *Salmonella*, enabling the bacteria to persist in the products long enough to result in human consumption and infection.

Fruit juices contain natural levels of a variety of organic acids, typically making up 1% of the total weight of the juice. However, certain fruit juices contain a specific organic acid which is predominantly more abundant than the others. For orange juice citric acid accounts for approximately 90% of the total organic acids, for apple juice malic acid is the most abundant (Huang *et al.*, 2009). The acidity of fruit juices varies depending on the fruit itself and whether they contain additives, pH generally ranges from 3.0 to 4.0. An investigation into the pH levels

of beverages in the United States determined that Tropicana 100% apple juice had a pH of 3.50 whereas orange juice had a pH of 3.80 (Reddy *et al.*, 2015). Exposure to the mild acidic conditions apparent in fruit juices corresponds to the hypothetical induction of the ATR, and therefore an enhanced resistance to extreme pH conditions in host digestive systems.

Storage temperature is also an important component in the induction of the ATR in the presence of organic acids. This is due to the temperature having a direct role in the ability of undissociated organic acids to pass through bacterial membranes, with a higher temperature increasing the rate of passage (Ulgas and Ingham, 1998). The effect of temperature on the *S*. Typhimurium ATR in food products is underreported in the literature, considering the implications it may have in the way we store acidic foods. An investigation by Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.* (2013) initially assessed the survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted *S*. Typhimurium cells in orange juice under different storage temperatures. They determined that acid adapted cells with an induced ATR had enhanced survival abilities compared to non-acid adapted cells at higher temperatures of 25 and 37 °C. This initial study highlights how correct storage of fruit juice at appropriate temperatures is vital, stopping the induction of the ATR therefore reducing the level of *Salmonella*.

#### 4.1.2 Chapter aims

Only very limited studies have been conducted assessing the importance of the ATR in *Salmonella* survival in fruit juices during storage. A prominent study conducted by Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.* (2013) investigated acid adapted and non-acid adapted cells during storage in orange juice, as previously mentioned they determined that acid adapted cells had enhanced survival at higher temperatures. As discussed in chapter 3, STM1250 is important in the ATR in the presence of citric acid. In combination to citric acid being the predominant organic acid in orange juice, we sought out to investigate whether STM1250 may be important for the survival of *Salmonella* in naturally acidified fruit juices. Therefore, we hypothesised that STM1250 would be important for the survival of *Salmonella* during storage of fruit juices.

In this chapter, we aim to investigate the role of the ATR in the survival of *Salmonella* in apple and orange juice over a range of storage temperatures. Specifically assessing for the first time whether STM1250 does in fact also extend its contribution to the ATR from minimal media acidified with citric acid, into more complex naturally acidified media being apple and orange juices during storage.

These aims were achieved through:

- Assessing the percentage survival of each of the strains across the storage temperatures; 37 °C representing average body temperature, 25 °C representing room temperature and 4 °C representing refrigeration temperature.
- Assessing the percentage survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted △STM1250 single mutants in long term storage in either apple or orange juice stored at either 4, 25 or 37 °C.

#### 4.2 Results

#### 4.2.1 Growth of mutant strains is not significantly reduced in complex media

Growth curves were conducted using Luria-Bertani (LB) medium. Similarly, to the minimal media growth curve this will confirm whether any significant differences are present between mutant strains and the WT. This will inform on later assays utilising complex media such as fruit juice in the apple and orange juice survival assays, confirming that any differences in survival displayed are as a result of the loss of the gene and not as a result of the strains ability to grow in complex media. Growth curves were conducted on each of the mutant strains being investigated ( $\Delta STM1250$  single,  $\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$  double and  $\Delta STM1250\Delta ibpA\Delta ibpB\Delta agsA$  quadruple mutants). Growth curves were performed alongside a WT strain in order to determine their baseline growth. The growth of the mutant strains followed that of the WT in LB medium, with no significant difference being displayed between the strains (Figure 10). This suggests that none of the mutants had any growth restrictions in complex LB media.



Figure 10. Growth of WT and Salmonella mutant strains are not significantly reduced in pH 7.0 LB medium. Respective strains of Salmonella were used to inoculate LB medium and incubated at 37 °C, 180 rpm for 24 hours. Aliquots (1 ml) were taken every hour for 8 hours with a final sample taken at 24 hours.  $OD_{600}$  readings were measured after collection. Data points are the culmination of three means produced from three individual experiments performed in triplicate. Error bars are SEM.

### 4.2.2 Survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted ${\Delta} STM1250$ mutants in pasteurised apple and orange juice

The involvement of STM1250 in the *Salmonella* ATR was investigated further, with non-acid adapted and acid adapted  $\Delta$ *STM1250* mutants being assessed for their percentage survival in apple and orange juice stored over a range of temperatures. This would determine whether STM1250 is important for the ATR in acidic food products stored at specific temperatures. Percentage survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted  $\Delta$ *STM1250* mutants were assessed in apple and orange juice at temperatures of 37 °C, 25 °C and 4 °C. Strains of *Salmonella* were first grown overnight in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth (pH 7.0). Strains were then standardised before being transferred into either pH 7.0 LB (non-acid adapted) or pH 4.4 LB broth acidified with HCI (acid adapted) and grown to late stationary phase. Cultures were then added to apple and orange juice and stored at either 37 °C, 25 °C or 4 °C. Aliquots were taken at regular intervals and the CFU/mL determined.

#### 4.2.2.1 Apple and orange juice storage survival assay at 37 °C

Overall, the survival of both the WT and  $\Delta STM1250$  mutants dramatically decreased over the 3-hour time period at 37 °C, with the percentage survival of all cultures falling a combined 90.3% (Figure 11). Interestingly, acid adapted cultures irrelevant of strain had a reduced survival compared to non-acid adapted cultures, with acid adapted cultures having a 91.6% reduction in percentage survival compared to an 88.96% reduction for unadapted cultures after 3 hours. The type of fruit juice appeared to have no significant impact on survival when stored at 37 °C. However, it can be noted that a trend is visible in the acid adapted assay as cultures stored in orange juice displayed reduced survival compared to apple juice, with a 9.6% difference between the two after 3 hours. The opposite is true in the unadapted assay with a trend suggesting cultures stored in apple juice had greater survival, with a 12.1% difference after 3 hours. Crucially, no statistically significant difference in percentage survival occurred between WT and the  $\Delta STM1250$  mutant in unadapted cultures in either the apple or orange juice. The same can be said of acid adapted cultures with no significant difference determined in either juice between the strains.



Figure 11. Survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted  $\triangle$ STM1250 mutant and WT Salmonella in apple and orange juice at 37 °C. Unadapted cultures were incubated in pH 7.0 LB until late stationary phase then transferred to either apple or orange juice. Acid adapted cultures were incubated in pH 4.4 LB adjusted with HCI. Aliquots were taken every 2 hours and CFU/mL was calculated. Data points are the means of 3 experiments performed in triplicate, error bars are SEM. (AA refers to acid adapted, and NAA refers to non-acid adapted, A/O refers to apple and orange juice respectively).

#### 4.2.2.2 Apple and orange juice storage survival assay at 25 °C

The survival of each culture dramatically decreased over the 24-hour time period at 25 °C (Figure 12). Dissimilar to 37 °C, the percentage survival of cultures reduced at a slower rate, with cultures falling a mean 79.3% over 36 hours. In agreement with the previous assay, acid adapted cultures irrelevant of strain appeared to have a decreased survival advantage compared to unadapted cultures. With the survival of acid adapted cultures falling a mean 80.8% compared to 78.5% of unadapted cultures. The type of juice did however appear to have an impact on survival irrelevant of acid adaption, with cultures stored in apple juice overall having reduced survival. This is evident with a 10.9% difference in adapted cultures and 14.7% in unadapted cultures. Of importance, no statistically significant difference was determined between the mutant strain and WT in adapted and unadapted cultures in either apple or orange juice. However, a clear trend can be visualised in the adapted assay, with the mutant strain having reduced survival compared to WT in both apple and orange juice.





#### 4.2.2.3 Apple and orange juice storage survival assay at 4 °C

The survival of cultures incubated at 4 °C also significantly reduced over the 36-hour period, although on average cultures only decreased by 65.4% (Figure 13). Like the previous assays adapted cells had a greater reduction in survival falling 70.5% compared to only 60.3% in

unadapted cells. Similar to the 4 °C assay cultures incubated in apple juice had a greater reduction in percentage survival, with a 7.0% difference in adapted and 12.7% in unadapted cultures. Again, no statistically significant difference was determined between the mutant strain and WT in adapted and unadapted cultures in either apple or orange juice. However, a clear trend can be similarly visualised in the adapted assay, with the mutant strain having reduced survival.



Figure 13. Survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted  $\triangle$ STM1250 mutant and WT Salmonella in apple and orange juice at 4 °C. Unadapted cultures were incubated in pH 7.0 LB until late stationary phase then transferred to either apple or orange juice. Acid adapted cultures were incubated in pH 4.4 LB adjusted with HCl. Aliquots were taken every 24 hours and CFU/mL was calculated. Data points are the means of 3 experiments performed in triplicate, error bars are SEM. (AA refers to acid adapted, and NAA refers to non-acid adapted, A/O refers to apple and orange juice respectively).

#### 4.3 Discussion

In this chapter acid adapted and non-acid adapted cultures of  $\triangle$ STM1250 and WT Salmonella Typhimurium were assessed for their survival capabilities in apple and orange juice, over a range of storage temperatures. In the previous chapter STM1250 was determined as being important in the ATR in the presence of the organic acid, citric acid. As citric acid is the primary acidulent found in orange juice we investigated whether the function of STM1250 was important for Salmonella survival in naturally acidified orange juice during storage. We also extended the investigation into apple juice as similarly to orange juice it is also naturally acidified with organic acids, primarily malic acid. In this chapter we determined that temperature significantly impacts the survival of Salmonella when incubated in apple and orange juice. We also established that unadapted cultures overall appeared to have a survival advantage compared to adapted cultures, which was unexpected. Importantly, STM1250 was not significantly involved in the survival of Salmonella in the storage of apple and orange juice. However, a clear trend was apparent in both 4 and 25 °C assays, with the mutant strain having reduced survival. Furter investigation is required to fully elucidate whether the trend shown in this investigation is significant, and that therefore STM1250 does in fact contribute to Salmonella survival in fruit juice storage at 4 and 25 °C.

#### 4.2.1 Survival of the STM1250 mutant in apple and orange juice

As discussed in the introduction of this chapter several outbreaks of salmonellosis have been attributed to contaminated acidic foods, including fruit juices (CDC, 1975; Jain *et al.*, 2009; Vojdani *et al.*, 2008). This has raised some concerns over the safety of naturally acid food products, with their inherent acidity potentially not being a satisfactory protective mechanism against pathogenic microorganisms. A more complete understanding of the involvement of ASPs in the ATR is required, informing how bacteria including *Salmonella* which possess this inherit response behave under naturally acidified food products. Therefore, enabling the assessment of microbiological risk in acidic food products.

The apple and orange juice storage survival experiments were designed based on Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al* (2013), and were conducted in order to compare the survival capacity of WT and  $\Delta$ *STM1250* mutant acid adapted and non-acid adapted *S*. typhimurium cells in orange and apple juice stored under a selection of temperatures. Results gathered suggest that each of the four variables: acid adaption, fruit juice, storage temperature, and strain each had some impact on *Salmonella* survival. The storage temperatures used in this investigation were specifically selected: 4 °C was chosen as it mimics normal refrigeration temperature of fruit juices, 25 °C was selected as it mimics room temperature when fruit juice is not stored correctly, and 37 °C was selected as it is the optimum growth temperature of *Salmonella*.

Overall, the survival of cultures irrespective of incubation temperature dramatically decreased over the respective experimentation period. This was expected as apple and orange juice contain high amounts of organic acids which have deleterious effects on the growth and viability of bacteria (Baik et al., 1996). As previously stated, citric acid is the primary organic acid present in orange juice when malic acid is the main organic acid for apple juice (Huang et al., 2009). Citric acid has been previously shown to be the more effective than malic acid in inducing the ATR (Alvarez-Ordóñez et al., 2009). Cultures incubated in orange juice appeared to survive better in comparison to those incubated in each of the assays, apart from acid adapted cultures incubated at 37 °C, this may have been as a result of the more effective induction of the ATR by citric acid present in the orange juice compared to the malic acid of apple juice. However, it is also feasible malic acid caused higher bacterial inactivation, this is due to unadapted cultures also appearing to have greater survival in orange juice compared to apple juice. A previous study investigating the antimicrobial activity of organic acids indicated that the smaller molecular size of undissociated malic acid (134.09 Da) may enable easier entry into bacterial cells and therefore more readily reducing internal pH, compared to the larger size of citric acid (192.12 Da) which might not gain entry to the cell as effective (Eswaranandam et al., 2004).

Storage temperature also had an evident impact on the survival of cultures, with higher storage temperatures resulting in higher bacterial inactivation. This is evident from the combined reduction in percentage survival of each of the strains, at 37 °C survival fell the most by 90.3% over 3 hours, at 25 °C survival reduced by 79.3% over 36 hours. Finally, survival reduced the least at 4 °C by only 65.4%. A previous investigation into acid adapted and non-acid adapted *Salmonella* survival in orange juice produced similar results, reporting that for challenged cells the higher the storage temperature used, the greater the bacterial lethality (Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.*, 2013). This was the expected result as it is known that high temperatures increase microbial death in acidic environments (Gounadaki *et al.*, 2007). The same study by Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.* (2013) stated that this phenomenon was likely due to the increased diffusion of undissociated organic acids through the bacterial membrane at higher temperatures, this is also reasonable explanation for results produced in this experiment. This finding highlights the importance of correct processing of fruit juices and reinforces how crucial pasteurisation is in limiting the level of pathogenic microorganisms in food products.

An interesting finding in the study by Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.* (2013) was that non-acid adapted cells survived better at 4 °C, whereas acid adapted cells survived better at 25 °C and 37 °C. Findings in this chapter somewhat contradict these results. Similarly, at 4 °C unadapted cells had a greater survival reducing by 60.3% compared to 70.5% in adapted cells, however at 25 and 37 °C unadapted cells also had increased survival. Overall suggesting that unadapted cells survived better than adapted cells regardless of storage temperature. These results were highly unexpected as it suggests that the ATR may be deleterious to the survival of *Salmonella* in storage of apple and orange juice, it is also feasible that some other unknown variable in apple and orange juice is resulting in the repression of the ATR. Further investigation is required in order to fully determine the impact of acid adaption for the survival of *Salmonella* in apple and orange juice at different temperatures.

Of importance in this chapter was the assessment of percentage survival for acid adapted and unadapted  $\Delta STM1250$  single mutants. No statistically significant difference was determined between any of the mutant strains compared to WT during storage at either 4, 25 or 37 °C in apple or orange juice. However, a clear trend was apparent in apple and orange juice at both 4 and 25 °C. Acid adapted  $\triangle$ *STM1250* mutants incubated in apple and orange juice portrayed a clear reduction in survival in comparison to the WT, with the trend establishing itself during the early stages of incubation from 12 hours onwards. Interestingly, this trend is seemingly no longer apparent, or apparent to a much lesser degree in unadapted cells. This may be suggestive of STM1250 having a role in the ATR in the presence of naturally acidified fruit juices, but only at 4 and 25 °C. As previously established STM1250 is important in the initial stages of acid exposure in the ATR in the presence of the organic acid, citric acid. Potential reasoning for the trend of reduced survival for acid adapted  $\Delta STM1250$  mutants compared to the WT at 4 and 25 °C could be that STM1250 functions in the initial stages of the ATR during acid exposure in fruit juices. This fits in with findings as the trend is evident from the first time period at 12 hours, with the difference in percentage survival compared to the WT upheld across the other time periods at 24 and 36 hours.

#### 4.2.2 Summary

In conclusion, we have shown for the first time that STM1250 is implicated in the Salmonella ATR during storage of fruit juices. The effect of temperature on the ATR and its impact on *Salmonella* survival was investigated, in agreement with previous studies a higher temperature was aligned with greater bacterial inactivation. However, in contradiction was that irrelevant of temperature unadapted cells had greater survival. The type of fruit juice was also

significant in the survival of *Salmonella*, with cells incubated in orange juice having increased survival over those incubated in apple juice. These findings bear potential implications for food safety, especially the way in which we treat and store naturally acidified fruit juices. With the consideration of the type of food product, the composition of acids and storage temperature highly important during food processing in order to accurately inactive pathogenic microorganisms which have innate ATR systems. It is crucial we gain a better understanding of the proteins and mechanisms involved in the *Salmonella* ATR, in order to be better prepared in finding solutions to overcome the response and reduce the levels of *Salmonella* and other pathogenic microorganisms to safe levels in acidic food products.
# **Chapter 5: General Discussion**

Results produced from each chapter have already been individually discussed at length. Therefore, this final chapter will outline the predominate findings of each chapter and explain how they take place within the wider context of *Salmonella* research and food safety. Furthermore, potential future avenues of research will be discussed to build on the results displayed.

#### 5.1 Context

Foodborne diseases continue to pose a significant threat to global public health resulting in extensive morbidity and mortality irrelevant of age, socioeconomic development is also notably impacted (He et al., 2023). Most foodborne diseases are caused by specific pathogens such as bacteria, viruses, parasites, fungi and mycotoxins which are able to contaminate food products during processing, storage or transportation (Gallo et al., 2020). Salmonella is a prevalent microorganism responsible for contamination of a wide array of food products and consequently causes many cases of foodborne disease. Annually, Salmonella causes an estimated 1.3 billion cases of disease, with 93 million cases of gastroenteritis and 155,000 deaths (Coburn et al., 2007; Majowicz et al., 2010). Salmonella infection from contaminated food products is a major concern for developing countries, this is due to it being one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality. The pathogen is able to spread without control as a result of poor hygiene and lack of access to clean and safe water (Ngogo et al., 2020). Not only does Salmonella pose a significant threat in developing but also to developed countries, in Europe Salmonella is one of the most important causes of foodborne illness (Callejón et al., 2015). The European Centre for Disease Preventing and Control (ECDC) suggested that in 2018 Salmonellosis was the second most reported gastrointestinal infection in humans in the EU with 91 857 cases, of these 48,365 were as a result of 5,146 foodborne outbreaks of Salmonella (ECDC, 2020). As suggested previously, Salmonella doesn't just pose a threat to public health but also to the economy. A notable reported example was a major outbreak of Salmonella Thompson in the Netherlands in 2012, which cost an approximate €7.5 million due to reduced productivity, outbreak control measures and healthcare costs (Suijkerbuijk et al., 2016).

NTS serovars of *Salmonella* including Typhimurium typically cause self-limiting gastroenteritis, although this can develop into more serious complications such as bacteraemia (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2019). The emergence of iNTS serovars which cause invasive disease is significant, resulting in more serious bloodstream infections. These serovars are becoming more prevalent in developing countries especially sub-Saharan Africa, especially in young children and adults suffering with comorbidities such as HIV, malaria and malnutrition

74

(Gordon, 2011). Crucially, no licensed vaccine is available for NTS or iNTS serovars, highlighting the requirement for further *Salmonella* research identifying novel vaccine strains and therapeutic targets (Baliban *et al.*, 2020). Of additional concern to global public health are MDR isolates of *Salmonella*. Antibiotics are the primary treatment method for progressed salmonellosis infections and bacteraemia resulting from iNTS, coupled with the frequent use of antibiotics for livestock is enabling MDR isolates of *Salmonella* to emerge. These isolates may also enter the environment and contaminate fruits, vegetables, and water sources (Punchihewage-Don *et al.*, 2022). A notable outbreak of MDR *Salmonella* Heidelberg occurred in the United States in 2013 resulting in a reported 634 cases and 241 hospitalizations. The strain was resistant to ampicillin, chloramphenicol, gentamicin, kanamycin, streptomycin, sulfisoxazole, and tetracycline (CDC, 2013). This again highlights the importance of continued *Salmonella* research for identification for new therapeutic targets.

Due to the zoonotic nature of *Salmonella* the predominate source of infection occurs from contaminated meat products such as poultry and pork, although other animal related products such as eggs also significantly contribute to salmonellosis (Ehuwa *et al.*, 2021). These products make good environments for the growth of *Salmonella* due to the high-water content and abundance of nutrients (Wessels *et al.*, 2021). The widespread nature of *Salmonella* enables the pathogen to be present in or on any raw food materials including non-meat products such as fruit and vegetables (Podolak *et al.*, 2010). Many reported mechanisms have been suggested for the contamination of fruit and vegetable products. For example, contamination has been suggested to occur through produce contact to soil, this is a result of the ability of *Salmonella* to survive in adverse conditions including the soil for long periods of time (Jacobsen and Bech, 2012). Frequent cross-contamination into fruit and vegetables is also thought to occur from contaminated water used to irrigate plantations, staff and animal manure (Kowalska, 2023).

As established *Salmonella* can survive in a plethora of different conditions, as discussed in chapter 3 *Salmonella* can also contaminate and persist in the low pH environments found in fruit juices. This persistence in fruit juices namely apple and orange juices has led to significant outbreaks of the disease as reported by Vojdani *et al.* (2008) who detailed 5 outbreaks in fruit juice between 1995 and 2005, leading to 710 cases and 94 hospitalisations. Other notable outbreaks have also been reported by Jain *et al.* (2009) and the CDC. (1975) leading to an additional 152 and 296 cases of disease respectively. These outbreaks can be attributed to inadequate food safety regulations and poor food handling, with apple and orange juices clearly providing a stable vector for *Salmonella* contamination. The implication of different regulatory legislations in the early 2000s such as the Hazard Analysis and Critical Control

Point (HACCP) regulation reduced juice-associated *Salmonella* outbreaks, although some juice operations are still exempt from regulations and therefore remain a risk to public health (Vojdani *et al.*, 2008; FDA, 2001). Of significance was that many of these outbreaks were associated with unpasteurised apple or orange juices with correct food processing guidelines not followed. Societal changes are resulting in the more frequent consumption of fresh unpasteurised fruit juices because of the nutritional benefits such as antioxidants, fibre, phytonutrients, vitamins, and minerals (Kaddumukasa *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, foodborne outbreaks of *Salmonella* in fruit juices still pose a significant threat to public health.

The ability of *Salmonella* to survive within harsh conditions is due to innate stress responses, providing resistance towards antibiotics and environmental stresses such as low pH, temperature changes and osmotic pressure. Stress response mechanisms are highly complex involving the precise functioning of a network of proteins, many of which remain unknown with their specific impact not fully elucidated. Stress responses are crucial during the lifecycle of *Salmonella* enabling survival outside of a host in suboptimal conditions for example the soil, in water or acidic food products. They are also important during host pathogenesis, helping to resist lethal stresses such as the low pH of stomach acid and even host innate and adaptive immune responses.

### 5.2 The importance of the bacterial stress response

As previously highlighted *Salmonella* frequently encounter various environmental stresses during their lifecycle, requiring the contribution of innate stress responses in order to tolerate or even enable survival in certain conditions. Stress responses including ESRs have been the focus of many recent investigations, implicating them more precisely in *Salmonella* survival against various stresses and even pathogenesis. This is also true for the extracytoplasmic sigma factor  $\sigma^{E}$  which has been shown to become induced in *Salmonella* following: oxidative stress, heat and cold shock and carbon starvation (Rowley *et al.*, 2006), acid stress (Muller *et al.*, 2009) ultraviolet A (UVA) radiation, P22 phage and hypo-osmotic shock which have more recently been implicated in the induction of the  $\sigma^{E}$  ESR (Amar *et al.*, 2018).

Investigations have also established the importance of  $\sigma^{E}$  in *S*. Typhimurium virulence, finding that it is critical for murine infection and survival within macrophages (Humphreys *et al.*, 1999). Due to the importance of  $\sigma^{E}$  it seemed feasible that *Salmonella rpoE* mutants would make good attenuated candidates strains for vaccines. However, the degree of attenuation exceeds that of a functional level with a protective immunity not raised against subsequent challenge with WT *Salmonella* (Rychlik and Barrow, 2005). Attention has therefore been diverted to the

potential use of *rpoE* regulon members as more appropriate vaccine strains, with the reasoning being that they may not result in over attenuation. This is due to many  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated proteins being determined to have roles in *Salmonella* pathogenesis. Examples include the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated periplasmic chaperone *skp* which was identified as being required for *S*. Typhimurium murine infection (Rowley *et al.*, 2011). Deletion of another  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated chaperone *surA* has been shown to lead to a loss of adhesion and invasion of epithelial cells. Mice infected with WT *S*. Typhimurium after exposure to a *surA* mutant were found to be unable to colonise the host (Sydenham *et al.*, 2000). More recently the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated proteins STM1250, AgsA, IbpA and IbpB were implicated in *Salmonella* survival in macrophages and in the presence of oxidative stress (Hews *et al.*, 2019). The association of the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated proteins to *Salmonella* pathogenesis makes them good targets for vaccine strains, continued elucidation of  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated and their precise functioning is beneficial for the identification of novel therapeutic targets.

#### 5.3 The putative stress response protein STM1250 and the Salmonella ATR

One of the key stress responses *Salmonella* possesses is the ATR which is responsible for survival under extreme acid conditions. The majority of studies have focused on the ATR of *S*. Typhimurium where much of its characterisation has been conducted. However, similar ATR have also been established in additional serovars of *Salmonella* including but not limited to *S*. Enteritidis *S*. Heidelberg *S*. Senftenberg, and *S*. Typhi and other Gram-negative bacteria such as *E*. Coli (Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.*, 2012). Vast amounts have been deciphered about the *Salmonella* ATR since its first description by Foster and Hall. (1990) including many investigations over the conditions required for the induction of the ATR and the various factors which influence the response such as the phase of growth, temperature, type of acidulant and growth medium. Not only has progress been made in our understanding of the ATR and how it functions in *Salmonella* but also in the molecular mechanisms which regulate the response, with more understood about the intricacies of the response including gene expression and pH homeostatic mechanisms.

As mentioned in chapter 3 the pH homeostatic mechanisms involved in the ATR have been well characterised, with the functioning and implications of the lysine and arginine decarboxylase systems in protecting *Salmonella* from acid stress well known. Extensive research has been conducted over the last couple of decades determining the involvement of ASPs in the *Salmonella* ATR. The expression of ASPs was first descripted as a potential mechanism for *Salmonella's* ability to tolerate extreme acid stress by Foster. (1991). A follow-up study by Foster. (1993) highlighted the crucial impact of ASPs stating that they play an

integral role in the protection against acid stress, also noting that they become induced at a pH of 4.3. Stemming from this research many subsets of ASPs have been characterised in addition to the regulatory genes controlling their expression. Functions of most ASPs include: cellular regulation, molecular chaperoning, energy metabolism, transcription, translation, synthesis of fimbriae, regulation of the cellular envelopes, colonization and virulence (Bearson *et al.*, 2006). Although vast improvements in our understanding of ASPs and their contributions to the ATR have been made, further studies are required in order to fully understand the contributions of ASPs in *Salmonella* survival following acid shock.

The core regulatory genes known to control the expression of ASP subsets include the alternative sigma factor RpoS, the iron regulator Fur, the two-component signal transduction system PhoP/PhoQ and the OmpR response regulator (Foster, 2000). Although not widely accepted to be a core regulator of ASPs in the *Salmonella* ATR, research has pointed at a role of RpoE during acid stress. An investigation by Muller *et al.* (2009) determined that  $\sigma^{E}$ -deficient S. Typhimurium exhibited increased susceptibility to acid pH. In the same study  $\sigma^{E}$  was shown to become activated by acidic conditions in a non-canonical mechanism independent of DegS, the full mechanism of acid induced activation of  $\sigma^{E}$  as well as its role in *Salmonella* survival during acid stress remains uncharacterised.

Of significance is that although the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulon has been established many of the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated proteins have not been investigated and therefore have unknown functions in Salmonella (Skovierova *et al.*, 2006). Hews (2020) started to characterise some of these  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated proteins including STM1250, where she identified novel phenotypes of a  $\Delta STM1250$  mutant. This was the first time STM1250 had been shown to be important in the Salmonella ATR. Continued efforts in this study confirmed STM1250s importance in the initial stages of the ATR during acid exposure in S. Typhimurium. Novel phenotypes of the  $\Delta STM1250$  mutant were also identified in the presence of the organic acid, citric acid therefore extending the known implications of STM1250 in the ATR. Put together with previous findings it can be assumed STM1250 is functional in the ATR regardless of environmental factors such as growth phase or the acidulent. However, apart from these initial phenotypic implications of STM1250 little is known about the protein, with it still being regarded as a hypothetical protein (Skovierova et al., 2006). To further increase our understanding of this protein biochemical and protein interaction studies should be conducted, enabling a better idea of how STM1250 might interact and function. With no known conserved domains or motifs and lack of any structural data it is difficult to suggest an intracellular mechanism of STM1250. Although, thanks to promising phenotypic results it remains possible that STM1250 could still become a new therapeutic target with its inhibition potentially leading to *Salmonella* attenuation, further investigation is however required before this can be confirmed.

#### 5.4 The importance of the Salmonella ATR and STM1250 in food safety

Societal shifts including consumer preferences for healthy foods is leading to the popularisation of fruit juices. This increase in consumption is partly due to the abundance of vitamins, minerals, phenolic compounds, organic acids, and carotenoids in many fresh fruits and their juices (Dhalaria et al., 2020). Due to the high occurrence of pathogenic microorganisms in fruit juices, processing methods such as thermal treatment including pasteurisation are commonly implemented. This ensures microbial safety and also inactivates deleterious enzymes such as polyphenol oxidase and peroxidase which lead to undesirable sensory and nutritive changes (Petruzzi et al., 2017). Different legislations have been implemented to control food processing for fruit juices including the HACCP, which states fruit juices must a mandatory 5-log<sub>10</sub> reduction of the most resistant microorganism of public health significance (FDA, 2001). This has been successful in drastically reducing the number of foodborne outbreaks of disease in fruit juices. However, retail establishments or businesses that sell directly to consumers and do not sell or distribute juice to other businesses are exempt from the juice HACCP regulations, therefore, not requiring them to thermally treat their juice products. Interestingly, pasteurisation may negatively impact the quality of fruit juices, this is due to the inactivation of some thermos-sensitivity bioactive compounds and alteration of levels of antioxidants, polyphenols and vitamin C (Mandha et al., 2023; Petruzzi et al., 2017). Therefore, the trend of consuming unpasteurised fruit juices is gaining traction, which poses a significant risk to public health due to the frequent contamination with pathogenic microorganisms.

There has been gaining attention paid over the last decades to the implications of the *Salmonella* ATR towards food safety including that of fruit juices, this is due to the popularisation of unpasteurised fruit juices and the occurrence of food-borne outbreaks of *Salmonella* in different fruit juices (CDC, 1975; Jain *et al.*, 2009; Vojdani *et al.*, 2008). Doubts have however been cast over the effectiveness of naturally acidified food products in reducing the viability of pathogenic microorganisms, with suggestions that certain bacteria including *Salmonella* can tolerate the low pH environment with innate stress responses such as the ATR. Due to the risk posed on public health a more comprehensive understanding of pathogenic survival in fruit juice products is required, informing on improved methods of food processing specific to the type of juice. Of importance is a more complete understanding of

the involvement of ASPs in the ATR under different food relevant conditions, specifically informing on how bacteria including *Salmonella* which possess this inherit response behave under naturally acidified food products including fruit juice. Therefore, enabling the assessment of microbiological risk in acidic food products. This study aimed to address this issue and build on our understanding of the putative stress response protein STM1250 in the ATR in the presence of fruit juices.

Survival assays in orange and apple juice storage reported in chapter 4 identified various key findings. As expected, a higher storage temperature of apple and orange juice had a deleterious impact on the mean survival of *Salmonella* strains. This is likely due to the increased diffusion of undissociated organic acids through the bacterial membrane at higher temperatures, resulting in more extreme acidification of the *Salmonella* cytoplasm and therefore microbial death (Álvarez-Ordóñez *et al.*, 2013). This finding confirms the functionality of high temperature treatment of fruit juices as a viable method of *Salmonella* inactivation. Although, as previously stated thermal treatment of fruit juices negatively impacts their quality and therefore attractiveness to consumers (Mandha *et al.*, 2023; Petruzzi et al., 2017). A study by Mandha *et al.* (2023) characterising the implications of pasteurisation on watermelon, pineapple, and mango juices determined considerable variations in physicochemical, chemical composition, and quality parameters of each juice during pasteurisation at different time periods. To overcome the issue conventional techniques such as pasteurisation have on the nutritional benefit of fruit juices, further investigation into the optimal pasteurisation temperature and time period should be conducted specific to the type of juice.

Cultures incubated in orange juice appeared to survive better in comparison to those incubated in each of the survival assays, apart from acid adapted cultures incubated at 37 °C. As suggested earlier this may have been as a result of the more effective induction of the ATR by citric acid in orange juice, or potentially higher bacterial inactivation caused by malic acid in apple juice. Is it evident throughout the literature that acid resistance is enhanced in *S*. Typhimurium when the medium is supplemented with amino acids, including arginine and lysine. This is thought to be due to the contribution they have on the pH homeostatic decarboxylation mechanisms (Kieboom and Abee, 2006). Interestingly, amino acid profiles differ between fruit juices with orange juice typically made up of 0.3%-0.4% amino acids, when in apple juice the level can be as low as 10 parts per million (ppm) (Huang *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, another potential reasoning behind these results may be that the higher levels or amino acids in orange juice may more effectively induce the ATR of *Salmonella*. Regardless, the type of fruit juice appears to have an impact on the survival of *Salmonella*, highlighting the importance of food processing regulations specific to the type of fruit juice in order to precisely

inactive *Salmonella* to adequate levels. Further investigation would however be required to assess the reasoning behind the differential survival of *Salmonella* in different fruit juices, the data of which will be crucial in the production of food safety regulations for specific fruit juices.

Significantly, a clear trend was apparent in the fruit juice storage survival assays conducted at 4 and 25 °C. Acid adapted  $\Delta STM1250$  mutants incubated in apple and orange juice portrayed a clear reduction in survival in comparison to the WT, this trend was no longer apparent or apparent to a much lesser degree in unadapted cells. Interestingly, the trend was established from the first time period at 12 hours, with the difference in percentage survival compared to the WT upheld across the other time periods at 24 and 36 hours. These findings overall suggest a possible role of STM1250 initially in the ATR after exposure to organic acids. To confirm whether this apparent trend is a result of an initial function of STM1250 in the ATR after exposure to organic acids present in fruit juices further investigation is required, with smaller time intervals taken over a reduced total storage time. For example, as STM1250 has been shown to be important in the first 15 minutes of citric acid exposure, future investigations should focus on the initial impacts of STM1250 during short term storage of fruit juices. Research towards the identification of new genes and proteins and their involvement in the Salmonella ATR is just as important as understanding the implications of environmental factors on the development of the ATR in food items, such as those investigated in this study storage temperature and medium composition. A greater overall understanding of the ATR including the functioning of proteins will facilitate the identification of improved food safety regulations, with more specialised implications for the inactivation of Salmonella specific to the type of food product. This study utilised the model NTS serovar S. Typhimurium, overall findings in this strain provide the basis and evidence for future extended investigation into alternative serovars. Of importance are serovars which are prevalent in foodborne outbreaks such as S. Enteritidis.

Of importance to food safety is the intricate relationship between stress resistance and virulence in many food-borne pathogenic bacteria, especially *Salmonella*. There is accumulating evidence suggesting that induction of the ATR enhances survival under the extreme acidic challenge presented by the gastric fluid in the stomach (Gahan and Hill, 1999; Wilmes-Riesenberg *et al.*, 1996). A study by Yuk and Schneider. (2006) determined that the introduction of *Salmonella* to acidic juice environment during processing can consequently enhance its ability to survive in the human stomach, stating that this could potentially increase the risk of *Salmonella* outbreak by juice. Not only has it been suggested that microbial pathogenesis involving the tolerance of the stomachs low pH heavily relies on stress responses, especially the ATR of *Salmonella*. But also other aspects of pathogenesis beyond

the stomach including resistance to oxidative stress and intestinal invasion capacity (Felipe-López and Hensel, 2010; Perez *et al.*, 2010). These findings directly suggest an intimate relationship between the development of an ATR in *Salmonella* and its virulence capacity. This has crucial relevance towards food safety as the ability of bacteria such as *Salmonella* to grow, compete for nutrients and tolerate stresses such as low pH would determine the number of viable cells that would reach the gut, and therefore cause disease (Guillén *et al.*, 2021). Overall, highlighting the importance of the significant inactivation of *Salmonella* during food processing of fruit juices.

### 5.5 Study limitations

There are limitations present within this study, this includes the omission of phenotypic complementation strains. Low-copy non-inducible vectors, under the control of a native promoter and overexpression vectors of STM1250 would have been beneficial throughout the study. The low-copy non-inducible vector would be able to confirm whether native expression of STM1250 restores survival of the  $\Delta$ STM1250 mutant to WT levels. The use of overexpression vectors of STM1250 would primarily validate apparent phenotypes are due to the specific loss of STM1250. Use in the ATR survival assays would also provide insight into STM1250s functioning in the ATR, assessing whether the protein provides an additive survival advantage when overexpressed. Limitations to this study also include the lack of Salmonella serovars utilised with only *S*. Typhimurium investigated. Further characterisation of STM1250 in the ATR of other serovars would be beneficial, providing information on whether STM1250 functions equally irrelevant of serovar. Use of other common food-borne serovars of Salmonella such as *S*. Enteritidis would also extend our understanding of the ATR and STM1250 and its association with food safety.

#### 5.6 Conclusions

The results in this thesis have confirmed previous findings that STM1250 is important in the *Salmonella* ATR, showing that it functions as a stress response protein. Our understanding of STM1250 has additionally been advanced through efforts in this thesis, showing further importance on STM1250 in the ATR in the presence of citric acid. Although the intracellular role of STM1250 still evades us, greater evidence has been built suggesting STM1250 functions in the initial stages of the ATR during acid exposure. This thesis has also taken strides in implicating the importance of the *Salmonella* ATR in naturally acidified food products specially fruit juices, with suggestions being made about how this may impact food safety.

STM1250 has also been suggested to be important for the *Salmonella* ATR in the presence of apple and orange juice, providing real implications of the protein outside of the laboratory conditions.

In conclusion, this study contributes to our knowledge of the *Salmonella* ATR and outlines how it impacts upon the food safety of fruit juices. Multiple suggestions for further investigations extending on findings of this study have been included throughout. Research conducted here and suggestions made for future investigations have the potential to identify novel therapeutic targets, and to more precisely tailor food regulations surrounding naturally acidified food products.

## **Chapter 6: References**

- Acheson, D. and Hohmann, E.L., (2001). Nontyphoidal salmonellosis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 32(2), pp.263-269.
- Allam, U.S., Krishna, M.G., Sen, M., Thomas, R., Lahiri, A., Gnanadhas, D.P. and Chakravortty, D. (2012). Acidic ph induced STM1485 gene is essential for intracellular replication of *Salmonella*. *Virulence*, 3(2), pp. 122–135.
- Allen, S. P., Polazzi, J. O., Gierse, J. K., and Easton, A. M. (1992). Two novel heat shock genes encoding proteins produced in response to heterologous protein expression in *Escherichia coli. Journal of Bacteriology*, 174(21), pp.6938–6947.
- Álvarez-Ordóñez, A., Fernández, A., Bernardo, A. and López, M. (2010a). Arginine and lysine decarboxylases and the acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *International journal of food microbiology*, 136(3), pp.278-282.
- Álvarez-Ordóñez, A., Fernández, A., Bernardo, A., and López, M. (2010b). Acid tolerance in *Salmonella* typhimurium induced by culturing in the presence of organic acids at different growth temperatures. *Food Microbiology*, *27*(1), pp.44–49.
- Álvarez-Ordóñez, A., Prieto, M., Bernardo, A., Hill, C. and López, M., (2012). The acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* spp.: an adaptive strategy to survive in stressful environments prevailing in foods and the host. *Food Research International*, 45(2), pp.482-492.
- Álvarez-Ordóñez, A., Valdés, L., Bernardo, A., Prieto, M. and López, M., (2013). Survival of acid adapted and non-acid adapted Salmonella Typhimurium in pasteurized orange juice and yogurt under different storage temperatures. Food science and technology international, 19(5), pp.407-414.
- Amar, A., Pezzoni, M., Pizarro, R. A., and Costa, C. S. (2018). New envelope stress factors involved in σ<sup>E</sup> activation and conditional lethality of rpoE mutations in *Salmonella* enterica. *Microbiology*, *164*(10), pp.1293–1307.
- Amicizia, D., Arata, L., Zangrillo, F., Panatto, D. and Gasparini, R., (2017). Overview of the impact of Typhoid and Paratyphoid fever. Utility of Ty21a vaccine (Vivotif®). *Journal* of preventive medicine and hygiene, 58(1), pp.E1.
- Audia, J.P. and Foster, J.W. (2003). Acid shock accumulation of sigma s in *Salmonella* enterica involves increased translation, not regulated degradation. *Microbial Physiology*, 5(1), pp.17–28.
- Audia, J.P., Webb, C.C. and Foster, J.W. (2001). Breaking through the acid barrier: An orchestrated response to Proton stress by enteric bacteria. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 291(2), pp.97–106.
- Baik, H.S., Bearson, S., Dunbar, S. and Foster, J.W., (1996). The acid tolerance response of Salmonella typhimurium provides protection against organic acids. *Microbiology*, 142(11), pp.3195-3200.

- Balasubramanian, R., Im, J., Lee, J.S., Jeon, H.J., Mogeni, O.D., Kim, J.H., Rakotozandrindrainy, R., Baker, S. and Marks, F., (2019). The global burden and epidemiology of invasive non-typhoidal *Salmonella* infections. *Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics*, 15(6), pp.1421-1426.
- Bang, I.S., Audia, J.P., Park, Y.K. and Foster, J.W., (2002). Autoinduction of the ompR response regulator by acid shock and control of the *Salmonella* enterica acid tolerance response. *Molecular microbiology*, 44(5), pp.1235-1250.
- Bang, I.S., Frye, J.G., McClelland, M., Velayudhan, J. and Fang, F.C., (2005). Alternative sigma factor interactions in *Salmonella*: σE and σH promote antioxidant defences by enhancing σS levels. *Molecular microbiology*, 56(3), pp.811-823.
- Bang, I.S., Kim, B.H., Foster, J.W. and Park, Y.K., (2000). OmpR regulates the stationaryphase acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* enterica serovar Typhimurium. *Journal* of bacteriology, 182(8), pp.2245-2252.
- Battesti, A., Majdalani, N., and Gottesman, S. (2011). The rpos-mediated general stress response in *escherichia coli*. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, *65*(1), pp.189–213.
- Bearson, B.L., Wilson, L. and Foster, J.W. (1998). A low ph-inducible, phopq-dependent acid tolerance response protects *Salmonella* typhimurium against inorganic acid stress. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 180(9), pp. 2409–2417.
- Bearson, S.M., Bearson, B.L. and Rasmussen, M.A. (2006). Identification of *Salmonella* enterica serovar typhimurium genes important for survival in the swine gastric environment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(4), pp. 2829–2836.
- Bearson, S.M., Benjamin Jr, W.H., Swords, W.E. and Foster, J.W., (1996). Acid shock induction of RpoS is mediated by the mouse virulence gene mviA of *Salmonella* typhimurium. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 178(9), pp.2572-2579.
- Bertani, B., and Ruiz, N. (2018). Function and biogenesis of lipopolysaccharides. *EcoSal Plus*, *8*(1), pp.10–1128.
- Bhan, M.K., Bahl, R. and Bhatnagar, S., (2005). Typhoid and paratyphoid fever. *The Lancet*, 366(9487), pp.749-762.
- Bono, A. C., Hartman, C. E., Solaimanpour, S., Tong, H., Porwollik, S., McClelland, M., Frye, J. G., Mrázek, J., and Karls, A. C. (2017). Novel DNA binding and regulatory activities for σ<sup>54</sup> (RpoN) in *Salmonella* enterica Serovar Typhimurium 14028s. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *199*(12), pp.10–1128.
- Braun, V. (1975). Covalent lipoprotein from the outer membrane of Escherichia coli. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Biomembranes, 415(3), pp.335– 377.
- Brenner, F.W., Villar, R.G., Angulo, F.J., Tauxe, R. and Swaminathan, B., (2000). Salmonella nomenclature. Journal of clinical microbiology, 38(7), pp.2465-2467.
- Burel, C., Kala, A., and Purevdorj-Gage, L. (2020). Impact of ph on citric acid antimicrobial activity against gram-negative bacteria. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, *72*(3), pp.332–340.

- Callejón, R. M., Rodríguez-Naranjo, M. I., Ubeda, C., Hornedo-Ortega, R., Garcia-Parrilla, M. C., and Troncoso, A. M. (2015). Reported foodborne outbreaks due to fresh produce in the United States and European Union: Trends and causes. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, *12*(1), pp.32–38.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (1975). *Salmonella* typhimurium outbreak traced to a commercial apple cider—New Jersey. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 24, pp.87–88.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2013). Outbreak of *Salmonella* Heidelberg infections linked to a single poultry producer -- 13 states, 2012-2013. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 62(27), pp.553–556.
- Coburn, B., Grassl, G.A. and Finlay, B.B., (2007). *Salmonella*, the host and disease: a brief review. *Immunology and cell biology*, 85(2), pp.112-118.
- Collinet, B., Yuzawa, H., Chen, T., Herrera, C., and Missiakas, D. (2000). RseB binding to the periplasmic domain of RSEA modulates the RSEA:ςE interaction in the cytoplasm and the availability of ςE·RNA polymerase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *275*(43), pp.33898–33904.
- Crump, J.A., Sjölund-Karlsson, M., Gordon, M.A. and Parry, C.M., (2015). Epidemiology, clinical presentation, laboratory diagnosis, antimicrobial resistance, and antimicrobial management of invasive *Salmonella* infections. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 28(4), pp.901-937.
- Dawan, J., and Ahn, J. (2022). Bacterial stress responses as potential targets in overcoming antibiotic resistance. *Microorganisms*, *10*(7), pp.1385.
- De Biase, D. and Lund, P.A., (2015). The Escherichia coli acid stress response and its significance for pathogenesis. *Advances in applied microbiology*, 92, pp.49-88.
- De Las Peñas, A., Connolly, L., and Gross, C. A. (1997). The σ<sup>E</sup>-mediated response to extracytoplasmic stress in *Escherichia coli* is transduced by RSEA and RSEB, two negative regulators of σ<sup>E</sup>. *Molecular Microbiology*, *24*(2), pp.373–385.
- Dhalaria, R., Verma, R., Kumar, D., Puri, S., Tapwal, A., Kumar, V., Nepovimova, E., AND Kuca, K. (2020). Bioactive compounds of edible fruits with their anti-aging properties: A Comprehensive Review to prolong human life. *Antioxidants*, *9*(11), pp.1123.
- Dubois-Brissonnet, F. (2012). Adaptation of *Salmonella* to antimicrobials in food-processing environments. *Salmonella Distribution, Adaptation, Control Measures and Molecular Technologies*, pp.123–146.
- Duggan, S., Jordan, E., Gutierrez, M., Barrett, G., O'Brien, T., and, D., Kenny, K., Fanning, J., Leonard, N. and Egan, J., (2012). Salmonella in meats, water, fruit and vegetables as disclosed from testing undertaken by Food Business Operators in Ireland from 2005 to 2009. Irish veterinary journal, 65(1), pp.1-7.
- Ehuwa, O., Jaiswal, A. K., and Jaiswal, S. (2021). *Salmonella*, food safety and food handling practices. *Foods*, *10*(5), pp.907.

- Eng, S.K., Pusparajah, P., Ab Mutalib, N.S., Ser, H.L., Chan, K.G. and Lee, L.H., (2015). *Salmonella*: a review on pathogenesis, epidemiology and antibiotic resistance. *Frontiers in Life Science*, 8(3), pp.284-293.
- Eswaranandam, S., Hettiarachchy, N. S., and Johnson, M. G. (2006). Antimicrobial activity of citric, lactic, malic, or tartaric acids and Nisin-incorporated soy protein film against Listeria monocytogenes, Escherichia coli O157:H7, and *Salmonella* Gaminara. *Journal of Food Science*, *69*(3), pp.FMS79–FMS84.
- Fàbrega, A. and Vila, J. (2013). Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium skills to succeed in the host: Virulence and regulation. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 26(2), pp. 308– 341.
- Fang, F. C., Frawley, E. R., Tapscott, T., and Vázquez-Torres, A. (2016). Bacterial stress responses during host infection. *Cell Host & amp; Microbe*, *20*(2), pp.133–143.
- Felipe-López, A., and Hensel, M. (2014). Bacterial responses to the host cell. *Bacterial Stress Responses*, pp.383–398.
- Forst, S.A. and Roberts, D.L., (1994). Signal transduction by the EnvZ-OmpR phosphotransfer system in bacteria. *Research in microbiology*, 145(5-6), pp.363-373.
- Foster, J.W. (1991). Salmonella acid shock proteins are required for the adaptive acid tolerance response. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 173(21), pp. 6896–6902.
- Foster, J.W. (1993). The acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* typhimurium involves transient synthesis of key acid shock proteins. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 175(7), pp. 1981–1987.
- Foster, J.W. (1999). When protons attack: Microbial Strategies of Acid Adaptation. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 2(2), pp. 170–174.
- Foster, J.W. (2004). Escherichia coli acid resistance: Tales of an amateur acidophile. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2(11), pp. 898–907.
- Foster, J.W. and Hall, H.K., (1990). Adaptive acidification tolerance response of *Salmonella* typhimurium. *Journal of bacteriology*, 172(2), pp.771-778.
- Franco Melendez, K., Crenshaw, K., Barrila, J., Yang, J., Gangaraju, S., Davis, R.R., Forsyth, R.J., Ott, C.M., Kader, R., Curtiss III, R. and Roland, K., (2022). Role of RpoS in Regulating Stationary Phase Salmonella Typhimurium Pathogenesis-Related Stress Responses under Physiological Low Fluid Shear Force Conditions. Msphere, 7(4), pp.e00210-22.
- Gahan, C. G. M., and Hill, C. (1999). The relationship between acid stress responses and virulence in *Salmonella* typhimurium and listeria monocytogenes. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *50*(1–2), pp.93–100.
- Gallo, M., Ferrara, L., Calogero, A., Montesano, D., and Naviglio, D. (2020). Relationships between food and diseases: What to know to ensure food safety. *Food Research International*, *137*, pp.109414.
- Gao, R., and Stock, A. M. (2009). Biological insights from structures of two-component proteins. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, *63*(1), pp.133–154.

- Gao, R., Mack, T. R., and Stock, A. M. (2007). Bacterial response regulators: Versatile regulatory strategies from common domains. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *32*(5), pp.225–234.
- García-García, R., and Searle, S. S. (2016). Preservatives: Food use. *Encyclopedia of Food and Health*, pp.505–509.
- Germanier, R., and Fiirer, E. (1975). Isolation and characterization of gal e mutant ty 21a of Salmonella typhi: A candidate strain for a live, oral typhoid vaccine. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 131(5), pp.553–558.
- Giannella, R.A. (1996). *Salmonella*. in Baron, S. (ed.) *Medical Microbiology*. 4th edn. University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston.
- Gordon, M. A. (2011). Invasive nontyphoidal Salmonella disease. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases, 24(5), pp.484–489.
- Gounadaki, A. S., Skandamis, P. N., Drosinos, E. H., and Nychas, G.-J. E. (2007). Effect of packaging and storage temperature on the survival of Listeria monocytogenes inoculated postprocessing on sliced salami. *Journal of Food Protection*, *70*(10), pp.2313–2320.
- Greenacre, E.J., Brocklehurst, E.J., Waspe, C.R., Wilson, D.R. and Wilson, P.D.G. (2003). Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium and listeria monocytogenes acid tolerance response induced by organic acids at 20°C: Optimization and modeling. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(7), pp. 3945–3951.
- Gruber, T. M., and Gross, C. A. (2003). Multiple sigma subunits and the partitioning of bacterial transcription space. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, *57*(1), pp.441–466.
- Guidelines for the treatment of Malaria (1970) World Health Organization. Available at: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/162441 (Accessed: 20 September 2023).
- Guillén, S., Nadal, L., Álvarez, I., Mañas, P., and Cebrián, G. (2021). Impact of the resistance responses to stress conditions encountered in food and food processing environments on the virulence and growth fitness of non-typhoidal salmonellae. *Foods*, *10*(3), pp.617.
- Gunn, J.S., Marshall, J.M., Baker, S., Dongol, S., Charles, R.C. and Ryan, E.T., (2014). Salmonella chronic carriage: epidemiology, diagnosis, and gallbladder persistence. *Trends in microbiology*, 22(11), pp.648-655.
- Guzman, C. A., Borsutzky, S., Griot-Wenk, M., Metcalfe, I. C., Pearman, J., Collioud, A., Favre, D., and Dietrich, G. (2006). Vaccines against typhoid fever. *Vaccine*, *24*(18), pp.3804–3811.
- Hall, H.K. and Foster, J.W., (1996). The role of fur in the acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* typhimurium is physiologically and genetically separable from its role in iron acquisition. *Journal of bacteriology*, 178(19), pp.5683-5691.
- Han, L., Zheng, J., Wang, Y., Yang, X., Liu, Y., Sun, C., Cao, B., Zhou, H., Ni, D., Lou, J., Zhao, Y., and Huang, Y. (2016). Structure of the BAM complex and its implications for

biogenesis of outer-membrane proteins. *Nature Structural & amp; Molecular Biology*, 23(3), pp.192–196.

- Haslbeck, M., Weinkauf, S. and Buchner, J., (2019). Small heat shock proteins: simplicity meets complexity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 294(6), pp.2121-2132.
- Haslbeck, M., Weinkauf, S., and Buchner, J. (2019). Small heat shock proteins: Simplicity meets complexity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 294(6), pp.2121–2132.
- He, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, R., Chen, L., Zhang, H., Qi, X., and Chen, J. (2023). Epidemiology of Foodborne Diseases caused by *Salmonella* in Zhejiang Province, China, between 2010 and 2021. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *11*, pp.1127925.
- Hews, C. L., (2020). Characterisation of σ<sup>E</sup>-regulated stress response proteins and their contributions to Salmonella physiology. Ph. D. Thesis. University of East Anglia. Available at: https://ueaeprints.uea.ac.uk/id/eprint/81444/1/2020HewsCPhD.pdf (Accessed: 03 September 2023).
- Hews, C. L., Cho, T., Rowley, G., and Raivio, T. L. (2019). Maintaining integrity under stress: Envelope stress response regulation of pathogenesis in gram-negative bacteria. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 9, pp.313.
- Hews, C.L., Pritchard, E.J. and Rowley, G., (2019). The *Salmonella* specific, σE-regulated, STM1250 and AgsA, function with the sHsps IbpA and IbpB, to counter oxidative stress and survive macrophage killing. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 9, p.263.
- Hirakawa, H., Kurushima, J., Hashimoto, Y., and Tomita, H. (2020). Progress overview of bacterial two-component regulatory systems as potential targets for antimicrobial chemotherapy. *Antibiotics*, *9*(10), pp.635.
- Hirshfield, I.N., Terzulli, S. and O'Byrne, C. (2003). Weak organic acids: A panoply of effects on bacteria. *Science Progress*, 86(4), pp. 245–270.
- Hoiseth, S.K and Stocker, B. (1981). Aromatic-dependent *Salmonella* Typhimurium are nonvirulent and effective as live vaccines. *Nature*, 291, pp238-239.
- Hsing, W. and Silhavy, T.J., (1997). Function of conserved histidine-243 in phosphatase activity of EnvZ, the sensor for porin osmoregulation in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 179(11), pp.3729-3735.
- Huang, Y., Rasco, B. A., and Cavinato, A. G. (2009). Fruit juices. *Infrared Spectroscopy for* Food Quality Analysis and Control, pp.355–375.
- Huang, Y., Rasco, B., and Cavinato, G., (2009). Fruit juices, in Sun, D.-W (ed.) *Infrared* Spectroscopy for Food Quality Analysis and Control. Academic press
- Humphreys, S., Stevenson, A., Bacon, A., Weinhardt, A. B., & Roberts, M. (1999). The alternative sigma factor, *ζ*<sup>E</sup>, is critically important for the virulence of Salmonella *typhimurium*. *Infection and Immunity*, *67*(4), pp.1560–1568.

- Ibanez-Ruiz, M., Robbe-Saule, V., Hermant, D., Labrude, S. and Norel, F., (2000). Identification of RpoS (ςS)-regulated genes in *Salmonella* enterica serovar Typhimurium. *Journal of bacteriology*, 182(20), pp.5749-5756.
- Jackson, B. R., Iqbal, S., Mahon, B., & Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2015). Updated recommendations for the use of typhoid vaccine--Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2015. *MMWR*. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *64*(11), pp.305–308.
- Jacobsen, C. S., and Bech, T. B. (2012). Soil survival of *Salmonella* and transfer to freshwater and fresh produce. *Food Research International*, *45*(2), pp.557–566.
- Jain, S., Bidol, S. A., Austin, J. L., Berl, E., Elson, F., LeMaile-Williams, M., Deasy, M., Moll, M. E., Rea, V., Vojdani, J. D., Yu, P. A., Hoekstra, R. M., Braden, C. R., and Lynch, M. F. (2009). Multistate outbreak of *Salmonella* Typhimurium and Saintpaul infections associated with unpasteurized orange juice—United States, 2005. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *48*(8), pp.1065–1071.
- Kenney, L. J., and Anand, G. S. (2020). EnvZ/OmpR two-component signaling: An archetype system that can function noncanonically. *EcoSal Plus*, *9*(1), pp.10–1128.
- Khan, M. I., Franco-Paredes, C., Sahastrabuddhe, S., Ochiai, R. L., Mogasale, V., and Gessner, B. D. (2017). Barriers to typhoid fever vaccine access in endemic countries. *Research and Reports in Tropical Medicine*, Volume 8, pp.37–44.
- Kieboom, J. and Abee, T. (2006). Arginine-dependent acid resistance in *Salmonella* enterica serovar typhimurium. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188(15), pp. 5650–5653.
- Konovalova, A., and Silhavy, T. J. (2015). Outer membrane lipoprotein biogenesis: Lol is not the end. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *370*(1679), pp.20150030.
- Kowalska, B. (2022). Fresh vegetables and fruit as a source of *Salmonella* bacteria. *Annals* of *Agricultural and Environmental Medicine*, *30*(1), pp.9–14.
- Kuczyńska-Wisńik, D., Laskowska, E., and Taylor, A. (2001). Transcription of the *ibpB* heatshock gene is under control of Σ32- and Σ54-promoters, a third regulon of heat-shock response. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 284(1), pp.57–64.
- Kumar, P. and Kumar, R. (2017). Enteric Fever. *Indian journal of pediatrics*, 84(3) pp.227–230.
- Lang, C., Zhang, Y., Mao, Y., Yang, X., Wang, X., Luo, X., Dong, P. and Zhu, L., (2021). Acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* during simulated chilled beef storage and its regulatory mechanism based on the PhoP/Q system. *Food Microbiology*, 95, p.103716.
- Laskowska, E., Wawrzynów, A., and Taylor, A. (1996). IbpA and IbpB, the new heat-shock proteins, bind to endogenous *Escherichia coli* proteins aggregated intracellularly by heat shock. *Biochimie*, *78*(2), pp.117–122.

- Lee, I.S., Slonczewski, J.L. and Foster, J.W., (1994). A low-pH-inducible, stationary-phase acid tolerance response in *Salmonella* typhimurium. *Journal of bacteriology*, 176(5), pp.1422-1426.
- Leyer, G.J. and Johnson, E.A., (1992). Acid adaptation promotes survival of *Salmonella* spp. in cheese. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 58(6), pp.2075-2080.
- Li, X., Wang, B., Feng, L., Kang, H., Qi, Y., Wang, J., and Shi, Y. (2009). Cleavage of RSEA by RSEP requires a carboxyl-terminal hydrophobic amino acid following degs cleavage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *106*(35), pp.14837–14842.
- Lu, H.-F., Wu, B.-K., Huang, Y.-W., Lee, M.-Z., Li, M.-F., Ho, H.-J., Yang, H.-C., and Yang, T.-C. (2020). PhoPQ two-component regulatory system plays a global regulatory role in antibiotic susceptibility, physiology, stress adaptation, and virulence in Stenotrophomonas Maltophilia. *BMC Microbiology*, 20(1), pp.1–12.
- Lund, P.A. De Biase, D., Liran, O., Scheler, O., Mira, N.P., Cetecioglu, Z., Fernández, E.N., Bover-Cid, S., Hall, R., Sauer, M. and O'Byrne, C. (2020). Understanding how microorganisms respond to acid ph is central to their control and successful exploitation. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11.
- MacLennan, C. A., Martin, L. B., & Micoli, F. (2014). Vaccines against invasive Salmonella disease. *Human Vaccines & amp; Immunotherapeutics*, *10*(6), pp.1478–1493.
- Majowicz, S.E., Musto, J., Scallan, E., Angulo, F.J., Kirk, M., O'Brien, S.J., Jones, T.F., Fazil, A., Hoekstra, R.M. and International Collaboration on Enteric Disease "Burden of Illness" Studies, (2010). The global burden of nontyphoidal *Salmonella* gastroenteritis. Clinical infectious diseases, 50(6), pp.882-889.
- Mandha, J., Shumoy, H., Matemu, A. O., and Raes, K. (2023). Characterization of fruit juices and effect of pasteurization and storage conditions on their microbial, physicochemical, and nutritional quality. *Food Bioscience*, *51*, pp.102335.
- Mani-López, E., García, H. S., and López-Malo, A. (2012). Organic acids as antimicrobials to control Salmonella in meat and poultry products. Food Research International, 45(2), pp.713–721.
- Marathe, S.A., Lahiri, A., Negi, V.D. and Charkravortty, D., (2012). Typhoid fever & vaccine development: a partially answered question. *The Indian journal of medical research*, 135(2), pp.161.
- Marles-Wright, J., and Lewis, R. J. (2007). Stress responses of bacteria. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, *17*(6), pp.755–760.
- Mikkelsen, L.L. Naughton, P.J., Hedemann, M.S. and Jensen, B.B. (2004). Effects of physical properties of feed on microbial ecology and survival of Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium in the pig gastrointestinal tract. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(6), pp. 3485–3492.
- Miyadai, H., Tanaka-Masuda, K., Matsuyama, S., and Tokuda, H. (2004). Effects of lipoprotein overproduction on the induction of DegP (HtrA) involved in quality control in

the escherichia coli periplasm. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(38), pp.39807–39813.

- Monsieurs, P., De Keersmaecker, S., Navarre, W. W., Bader, M. W., De Smet, F., McClelland, M., Fang, F. C., De Moor, B., Vanderleyden, J., and Marchal, K. (2005). Comparison of the phopq regulon in escherichia coli and *Salmonella* typhimurium. *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 60(4), pp.462–474.
- Mukherjee, S., Anderson, C. M., Mosci, R. E., Newton, D. W., Lephart, P., Salimnia, H., Khalife, W., Rudrik, James. T., and Manning, S. D. (2019). Increasing frequencies of antibiotic resistant non-typhoidal *Salmonella* infections in Michigan and risk factors for disease. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 6, pp.250.
- Muller, C., Bang, I.S., Velayudhan, J., Karlinsey, J., Papenfort, K., Vogel, J. and Fang, F.C., (2009). Acid stress activation of the σE stress response in *Salmonella* enterica serovar Typhimurium. *Molecular microbiology*, 71(5), pp.1228-1238.
- Narberhaus, F., (2002). α-Crystallin-type heat shock proteins: socializing minichaperones in the context of a multichaperone network. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 66(1), pp.64-93.
- Ngogo, F. A., Joachim, A., Abade, A. M., Rumisha, S. F., Mizinduko, M. M., and Majigo, M. V. (2020). Factors associated with *Salmonella* infection in patients with gastrointestinal complaints seeking health care at regional hospital in Southern Highland of Tanzania. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 20(1), pp.1–8.
- Paget, M. (2015). Bacterial sigma factors and anti-sigma factors: Structure, function and distribution. *Biomolecules*, *5*(3), pp.1245–1265.
- Park, Y.K., Bearson, B., Bang, S.H., Bang, I.S. and Foster, J.W., (1996). Internal pH crisis, lysine decarboxylase and the acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* typhimurium. *Molecular microbiology*, 20(3), pp.605-611.
- Perera, S. R., Sokaribo, A. S., and White, A. P. (2021). Polysaccharide vaccines: A perspective on non-typhoidal *Salmonella*. *Polysaccharides*, 2(3), pp.691–714.
- Perez, K. J., Ceccon, R. V., Da Silva Malheiros, P., Jong, E. V., and Cesar Tondo, E. (2010). Influence of acid adaptation on the survival of *Salmonella* Enteritidis and *Salmonella* Typhimurium in simulated gastric fluid and in *Rattus Norvegicus* intestine infection. *Journal of Food Safety*, *30*(2), pp.398–414.
- Petruzzi, L., Campaniello, D., Speranza, B., Corbo, M. R., Sinigaglia, M., and Bevilacqua, A. (2017). Thermal treatments for fruit and vegetable juices and beverages: A literature overview. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, *16*(4), pp.668–691.
- Podolak, R., Enache, E., Stone, W., Black, D. G., and Elliott, P. H. (2010). Sources and risk factors for contamination, survival, persistence, and heat resistance of *Salmonella* in low-moisture foods. *Journal of Food Protection*, *73*(10), pp.1919–1936.
- Prost, L.R., Daley, M.E., Le Sage, V., Bader, M.W., Le Moual, H., Klevit, R.E. and Miller, S.I., (2007). Activation of the bacterial sensor kinase PhoQ by acidic pH. *Molecular cell*, 26(2), pp.165-174.

- Raetz, C. R. H., Guan, Z., Ingram, B. O., Six, D. A., Song, F., Wang, X., and Zhao, J. (2009). Discovery of new biosynthetic pathways: The lipid A story. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 50, pp.S103–S108.
- Raetz, C. R., and Whitfield, C. (2002). Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 71(1), pp.635–700.
- Ratajczak, E., Stróżecka, J., Matuszewska, M., Ziętkiewicz, S., Kuczyńska-Wiśnik, D., Laskowska, E., and Liberek, K. (2010). IbpA the small heat shock protein from *Escherichia coli* forms fibrils in the absence of its cochaperone IbpB. *FEBS Letters*, 584(11), pp.2253–2257.
- Reddy, A., Norris, D. F., Momeni, S. S., Waldo, B., and Ruby, J. D. (2016). The pH of beverages in the United States. *The Journal of the American Dental Association*, 147(4), pp.255–263.
- Rhodius, V. A., Suh, W. C., Nonaka, G., West, J., and Gross, C. A. (2005). Conserved and variable functions of the σE stress response in related genomes. *PLoS Biology*, *4*(1), pp.e2.
- Rollauer, S. E., Sooreshjani, M. A., Noinaj, N., and Buchanan, S. K. (2015). Outer membrane protein biogenesis in gram-negative bacteria. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 370(1679), pp.20150023.
- Rowley, G., Spector, M., Kormanec, J. and Roberts, M., (2006). Pushing the envelope: extracytoplasmic stress responses in bacterial pathogens. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 4(5), pp.383-394.
- Rowley, G., Stevenson, A., Kormanec, J. and Roberts, M., (2005). Effect of inactivation of degS on *Salmonella* enterica serovar Typhimurium in vitro and in vivo. *Infection and immunity*, 73(1), pp.459-463.
- Rychlik, I., and Barrow, P. A. (2005). *Salmonella* stress management and its relevance to behaviour during intestinal colonisation and infection. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 29(5), pp.1021–1040.
- Sahastrabuddhe, S., and Saluja, T. (2019). Overview of the typhoid conjugate vaccine pipeline: Current status and future plans. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *68*(1), pp.S22–S26.
- Salmonella the most common cause of foodborne outbreaks in the European Union (2019) European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/news-events/salmonella-most-common-causefoodborne-outbreaks-european-union (Accessed: 01 September 2023).
- Samelis, J., Sofos, J.N., Kendall, P.A. and Smith, G.C., (2002). Effect of acid adaptation on survival of Escherichia coli O157: H7 in meat decontamination washing fluids and potential effects of organic acid interventions on the microbial ecology of the meat plant environment. *Journal of food protection*, 65(1), pp.33-40.
- Sánchez-Vargas, F. M., Abu-El-Haija, M. A., and Gómez-Duarte, O. G. (2011). Salmonella infections: An update on epidemiology, management, and prevention. *Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease*, *9*(6), pp.263–277.

- Scallan, E., Hoekstra, R.M., Angulo, F.J., Tauxe, R.V., Widdowson, M.A., Roy, S.L., Jones, J.L. and Griffin, P.M., (2011). Foodborne illness acquired in the United States—major pathogens. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17(1), pp.7-15.
- Schikora, A., Garcia, A.V. and Hirt, H., (2012). Plants as alternative hosts for *Salmonella*. *Trends in plant science*, 17(5), pp.245-249.
- Silhavy, T. J., Kahne, D., and Walker, S. (2010). The bacterial cell envelope. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 2(5), pp.a000414.
- Smith, D.A. and Nehring, S.M., (2022). Bacteremia. In StatPearls [Internet]. StatPearls Publishing.
- Søltoft-Jensen, J., and Hansen, F. (2005). New Chemical and biochemical hurdles. Emerging Technologies for Food Processing, pp.387–416.
- Soo Lee, I., Lin, J., Hall, H.K., Bearson, B. and Foster, J.W., (1995). The stationary-phase sigma factor σS (RpoS) is required for a sustained acid tolerance response in virulent *Salmonella* typhimurium. *Molecular microbiology*, 17(1), pp.155-167.
- Srinivas, N., Jetter, P., Ueberbacher, B. J., Werneburg, M., Zerbe, K., Steinmann, J., Van der Meijden, B., Bernardini, F., Lederer, A., Dias, R. L., Misson, P. E., Henze, H., Zumbrunn, J., Gombert, F. O., Obrecht, D., Hunziker, P., Schauer, S., Ziegler, U., Käch, A., Eberl, L., Riedel, K., Demarco, S. J., and Robinson, J. A. (2010). Peptidomimetic antibiotics target outer-membrane biogenesis in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Science*, *327*(5968), pp.1010–1013.
- Stanaway, J.D., Reiner, R.C., Blacker, B.F., Goldberg, E.M., Khalil, I.A., Troeger, C.E., Andrews, J.R., Bhutta, Z.A., Crump, J.A., Im, J. and Marks, F., (2019). The global burden of typhoid and paratyphoid fevers: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 19(4), pp.369-381.
- Stevens, M.P., Humphrey, T.J. and Maskell, D.J., (2009). Molecular insights into farm animal and zoonotic Salmonella infections. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1530), pp.2709-2723.
- Suijkerbuijk, A. W. M., Bouwknegt, M., Mangen, M.-J. J., de Wit, G. A., van Pelt, W., Bijkerk, P., and Friesema, I. H. M. (2016). The economic burden of a *Salmonella* Thompson outbreak caused by smoked salmon in the Netherlands, 2012–2013. *The European Journal of Public Health*, pp.325–330.
- Sydenham, M., Douce, G., Bowe, F., Ahmed, S., Chatfield, S., and Dougan, G. (2000). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium *surA* mutants are attenuated and effective live oral vaccines. *Infection and Immunity*, *68*(3), pp.1109–1115.
- Taylor, R.K., Hall, M.N., Enquist, L. and Silhavy, T.J., (1981). Identification of OmpR: a positive regulatory protein controlling expression of the major outer membrane matrix porin proteins of Escherichia coli K-12. *Journal of bacteriology*, 147(1), pp.255-258.
- Tennant, S.M., Hartland, E.L., Phumoonna, T., Lyras, D., Rood, J.I., Robins-Browne, R.M. and van Driel, I.R., (2008). Influence of gastric acid on susceptibility to infection with ingested bacterial pathogens. *Infection and immunity*, 76(2), pp.639-645.

- Tomoyasu, T., Takaya, A., Sasaki, T., Nagase, T., Kikuno, R., Morioka, M., and Yamamoto, T. (2003). A new heat shock gene, *agsA*, which encodes a small chaperone involved in suppressing protein aggregation in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *185*(21), pp.6331–6339.
- Traxler, M. F., Summers, S. M., Nguyen, H.-T., Zacharia, V. M., Hightower, G. A., Smith, J. T., and Conway, T. (2008). The global, ppgpp-mediated stringent response to amino acid starvation in Escherichia coli. *Molecular Microbiology*, *68*(5), pp.1128–1148.
- Troxell, B. and Hassan, H.M., (2013). Transcriptional regulation by Ferric Uptake Regulator (Fur) in pathogenic bacteria. *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology*, 3, p.59.
- Tsirigotaki, A., De Geyter, J., Šoštaric´, N., Economou, A., and Karamanou, S. (2016). Protein export through the bacterial SEC pathway. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *15*(1), pp.21–36.
- Uljas, H. E., and Ingham, S. C. (1998). Survival of Escherichia coli O157:H7 in synthetic gastric fluid after cold and acid habituation in apple juice or trypticase soy broth acidified with hydrochloric acid or organic acids. *Journal of Food Protection*, *61*(8), pp.939–947.
- Viala, J.P., Meresse, S., Pocachard, B., Guilhon, A.A., Aussel, L. and Barras, F., (2011). Sensing and adaptation to low pH mediated by inducible amino acid decarboxylases in *Salmonella*. *PLoS One*, 6(7), pp.e22397.
- Vojdani, J. D., Beuchat, L. R., and Tauxe, R. V. (2008). Juice-associated outbreaks of human illness in the United States, 1995 through 2005. *Journal of Food Protection*, *71*(2), pp.356–364.
- Vollmer, W., Blanot, D., and De Pedro, M. A. (2008). Peptidoglycan structure and Architecture. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, *32*(2), pp.149–167.
- Wahid, R., Simon, R., Zafar, S. J., Levine, M. M., and Sztein, M. B. (2012). Live oral typhoid vaccine TY21A induces cross-reactive humoral immune responses against Salmonella enterica serovar Paratyphi A and S. Paratyphi B in humans. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, 19(6), pp.825–834.
- Warnecke, T. and Gill, R.T. (2005) 'Organic acid toxicity, tolerance, and production in Escherichia coli biorefining applications', *Microbial Cell Factories*, 4(1), pp.1-8.
- Weber, H., Polen, T., Heuveling, J., Wendisch, V. F., and Hengge, R. (2005). Genome-wide analysis of the general stress response network in *Escherichia coli*: σ<sup>S</sup>-dependent genes, promoters, and sigma factor selectivity. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *187*(5), pp.1591–1603.
- Wessels, K., Rip, D., and Gouws, P. (2021). *Salmonella* in chicken meat: Consumption, outbreaks, characteristics, current control methods and the potential of bacteriophage use. *Foods*, *10*(8), pp.1742.
- Whitfield, C., and Trent, M. S. (2014). Biosynthesis and export of bacterial lipopolysaccharides. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, *83*(1), pp.99–128.

- Wilmes-Riesenberg, M. R., Bearson, B., Foster, J. W., and Curtis, R. (1996). Role of the acid tolerance response in virulence of *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *Infection and Immunity*, *64*(4), pp.1085–1092.
- Zhang, G., Meredith, T. C., and Kahne, D. (2013). On the essentiality of lipopolysaccharide to gram-negative bacteria. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, *16*(6), pp.779–785.